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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. SHEK Wing Wa

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. XU Jiangiang
Mr. YUAN Feng
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Hong Kong
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AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
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KY1-1111,
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F,

Two Chinachem Exchange Square,
338 King's Road, North Point,
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited
20 Pedder Street,
Central, Hong Kong

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
1 Garden Road, Hong Kong

China CITIC Bank International Limited
79/F, International Commerce Centre,
1 Austin Road West,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
25th Floor, Wing On Centre,

111 Connaught Road Central,

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
6877

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

www.clsapremium.com

note:
o As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 26 April 2022, the

Company's head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong had
been changed with effect from 1 May 2022.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUAN Feng, aged 39, has been appointed as the deputy chief
executive officer of the Group in June 2019, as well as a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company and a responsible officer of
CLSA Premium International (HK) Limited. He is also a member of
the Company's remuneration committee. Mr. Yuan is the senior vice
president of planning and finance department of CITIC Securities
Company Limited (“CITIC Securities”), the controlling shareholder
of CITIC Securities International Company Limited, which is the
controlling shareholder (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) of the
Company since April 2019 and the chief financial officer of CLSA
Group, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC Securities. Mr.
Yuan previously worked as a senior accountant of finance department
of CITIC Corporation Limited from February 2015 to April 2019, and as
an audit manager of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from July 2008 to July
2014. Mr. Yuan obtained his master’s degree in world economics from
University of International Relations in 2008, and has been a member
of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2014.

Mr. CHUNG Cheuk Fan Marco, aged 43, is currently the Head of
Legal and Compliance of the Company and he has joined the CLSA
Group as the Group Head of Legal in April 2021. Prior to joining
the CLSA Group, Mr. Chung worked at Morgan Stanley between
November 2011 to April 2021 holding various positions including
Regional Head of Legal for the Investment Management Private Funds
business; Regional Head of Legal for the Investment Banking Mergers
and Acquisitions business; and the Regional Chief Operating Officer for
the Investment Management Private Funds business.

Prior to joining Morgan Stanley, Mr. Chung worked as a corporate
attorney at Slaughter and May's London and Hong Kong offices
between 2004 to 2011. Mr. Chung is a qualified attorney in England &
Wales, Hong Kong, Australia (New South Wales) and New Zealand. Mr.
Chung obtained a Bachelor of Laws and Commerce conjoint degree
from the University of Auckland.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Jiong, aged 53, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 21 May 2018 and currently is the Chairman of the
Board, the chairman of the Company's nomination committee and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He concurrently
serves as a director of CITIC Securities Overseas Investment and CITIC
Securities International USA, LLC., as well as a chief treasury officer and
person-in-charge of the treasury department of CITIC Securities. After
Mr. Li joined CITIC Securities in 1996, he had served as the manager
of the international cooperation division of the information centre of
China International Trust Investment Corporation (renamed to CITIC
Group Corporation), manager of development department of CITIC
International Cooperation Co., Ltd., manager of the bond department,
deputy general manager of the treasury department and person-in-
charge of the treasury department of CITIC Securities. Mr. Li obtained
a bachelor’s degree in International Finance from the University of
International Business and Economics in 1992 and a master’s degree in
Business Administration from Tsinghua University in 2000.

Mr. XU Jianqgiang, aged 42, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 21 May 2018 and currently is the chairman of the
Company's corporate governance committee and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He currently serves as a deputy head of
the equity derivatives business line of CITIC Securities, a head of prime
brokerage business, chief executive officer of wealth management
business and also the Head of Asset Management of CLSA Group.
After Mr. Xu joined CITIC Securities in August 2005, he had served
as an analyst of the research department, product development
manager of the equity derivatives business line, head of trading of
the equity derivatives business line and head of equity derivatives of
CITIC Securities International Company Limited. Mr. Xu obtained a
bachelor's degree in Mathematics and Applied Mathematics from
Peking University in 2003 and a master's degree in Mathematics from
the University of British Columbia in 2005.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Jianfeng, aged 47, joined the Group in June 2019. He is a
member of each of the Company’s audit committee and remuneration
committee. Mr. Wu has served as the lead engineer of American
Express Company (a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
stock code: AXP) since 9 December 2019. Mr. Wu served as a senior
manager of information technology department, an executive manager
of technology center, and as a deputy director of technology center
and a director of technology development department of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange from 2000 to 2014. Mr. Wu graduated from Tsinghua
University and obtained his bachelor’s degree of Engineering in
Computer Science and Technology in 1993 and his doctorate degree of
Engineering in Computer System Architecture in 2000.

Mr. Christopher Wesley SATTERFIELD, aged 50, joined
the Group in June 2019. He is the chairman of the Company’s
remuneration committee and a member of each of the Company’s
audit committee, nomination committee and corporate governance
committee. Mr. Satterfield currently serves as an executive director
and chief executive officer of China Post & Capital Global Asset
Management Limited (“CPG") since September 2015, and is a
registered responsible officer of CPG recognized by the Securities and
Futures Commission for engaging in Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type
4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities. Mr. Satterfield is the chairman of China Post Global (UK)
Limited and a director of EBA Investments (Advisory) Limited and RQSI
Limited (“RQSI”). He joined RQSI in September 1999, and had served
as its president and chief operating officer. Mr. Satterfield graduated
from the US Navy Nuclear Field “A" School (“US Navy”) in 1992 and
received his Honorable Discharge from the US Navy in 1997.
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Ms. HU Zhaoxia, aged 71, joined the Group in June 2019. She is the
chairman of the Company’s audit committee and a member of each
of the Company’s corporate governance committee and nomination
committee. From 2012 to September 2015, Ms. Hu served as the
chief financial officer of (Zanhua (China) Equipment Leasing Co.,
Ltd.*) B (PE) REREABRAE. Prior to this, from October
1978 to January 2012, Ms. Hu worked as deputy director of the
accounting system division, deputy general manager and director of
the accounting division of the finance and accounting department of
the Head Office of Bank of China; deputy manager of the accounting
department and assistant general manager of Bank of China London
Branch; deputy general manager of Bank of China Sydney Branch;
chief financial officer of the retail banking business department of Bank
of China and senior supervisor of the office of the board of supervisors
of the Head Office of Bank of China. Ms. Hu graduated from Tianjin
University of Finance and Economics with major in Finance in 1978 and
obtained her senior accountant qualification, which was granted by the
committee of assessment of Bank of China in 1992.

* for identification purpose only

EHHS

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

HEAER LT 71 R _E—AEAAMAZR
EE-BALARDERZEREIEURAEAR
BhEERZEGRRERHZEENE -NZE
——FEZZ—hFNAHRE AR T EHEE
BiE (PE) REHEBRAB 2B -
egE—hAht N \NE+BE-ZE—_—5—8H
Mo L tEAPERITAET G2 F st 6
EERflER BIALEKRIRFERER  FPEIR
THADTZEHHRILIE LB IELZIE
FERITEEDTZEEKE -FERTE

EHE oI HEBRE UMRPEBITRITESS
MANEZBREBEE - BHLXETR—NAtN\F
BEERKXEURKBER FESMBFE  FR
— AN ZFEEFERTHZER TR G5 ED
B8 87 ©



STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Dear shareholders:

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
audited annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022, business review as well as the prospect of our business.

TURNING POINT: YEAR 2022

By reviewing the Group's business in the past years, due to 1)
customers have changed their investment orientation, many customers
have begun to switch to invest in the cryptocurrencies market; 2)
intense competition from local competitors; 3) the tightened regulatory
requirements; and 4) as affected by the coronavirus epidemic, the
Group is restricted from organizing investment seminars to attract new
customers for margin dealing business, the Group's business income is
far below expectations.

In order to improve the Group’s revenue, in addition to continuous
efforts to control costs (including reducing office expenses and IT
service expenses, etc.), the Group’s management (the “Management”)
begun the process of business transformation in mid-2022. Due to
the coronavirus epidemic, people began to pay attention to health,
and accept Chinese patent medicines and healthcare products. Based
on various market research reports, the Management understood that
the Chinese healthcare industry has made further significant progress
in terms of quality and its international profile. This has made the
sector more attractive to investors. China’s healthcare sector already
underwent a regulatory transformation years ago. Clinical trials and
regulatory approval pathways in China have been increasingly aligned
with international standards during the past seven years.
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STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

RIAT BRSO

In Hong Kong's fight against the fifth wave of the epidemic, the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
recommended the use of Chinese patent medicines namely #7558
J2Z (Lianhua Qingwen Jiaonang*), &{EBRIEER (Jinhua Qinggan
Keli*) and ZEHIESR A, PBFE (Huoxiang Zhengqi Pian/liaonang*),
etc., and the results are obvious to all. Therefore, the Management
believe that it would be an opportunity to broaden the Group’s
source of income by diversify the business to healthcare industry, with
potential focus on over-the-counter medicine and healthcare products.

There is a lower entry point for over-the-counter medicine compared
with hospitalization, providing care for the eldering or use of medical
equipment. The reputation of sales distribution channel and the
merchandise are critical. Hence, the Group established an online
store through an internationally renowned online sales platform, and
cooperated with a number of online celebrities to promote products. In
addition, the Group makes full use of its listing status in Hong Kong to

give customers more confidence in the products it sells.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 18 November
2022, the Company and TRT International entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement for the development of healthcare business
(including Chinese medicine). The Board believes that by entering
into the strategic cooperation agreement would enable the Group to
leverage on the expertise of TRT International group for expanding
the modular management and expansion of healthcare products
businesses (including Chinese medicine) and would play a positive role
in diversifying the revenue stream of the Group.

Based on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the unaudited management accounts up to
February 2023, the revenue of the Group’s healthcare products
business is encouraging, which provides confidence for the team to
continue to implement the business plan and develop the business.
The Management believe that the Group could positioned as an
international over-the-counter medicine agent.
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STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

On the premise of steady growth in revenue, the Group will gradually
expand its products lineup, add various Chinese patent medicines,
and explore various sales channels. The Management will continue to
monitor the business outlook and formulate a long-term business plan
for the Group in order to reward shareholders for their support.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our employees for their
professionalism and contributions, and thank all stakeholders for their

continued support to the Group.

YUAN Feng
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 13 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PG 2wk B oy i

The Board presents the audited consolidated results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022, together with the audited
comparative figures for the corresponding year in 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Business review
Margin Dealing Business

In the past years, the Group's business performance has been adversely
affected by legacy issues and further impacted by the prolonged
COVID-19 pandemic. To restore profitability and improve the Group's
overall financial position, the management has been striving to
reconstruct the margin dealing business and explore new business
opportunities in the “new normal” environment. During the year
under review, the management has decided to (i) explore business
opportunities in the healthcare industry, (i) suspend the operation
in Australia and New Zealand and (iii) continue the cost reduction
measures. These combined efforts have simultaneously increased the
total income and decreased total expenses, reducing the net loss of the
Group by 45% as compared with the year ended 31 December 2021.

In 2022, the margin dealing segment has achieved a 20% growth in
overall client trading volume compared with 2021. In particular, while
client trading volume in Australia and New Zealand has collectively
decreased by 33% compared with 2021 due to the suspension of
business, bullion clients have contributed an impressive 849% growth
of trading volume. In 2022, the trading income of the bullion business
increased by 900% to approximately HK$2.0 million compared with
2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CLSA Premium New Zealand Limited (“CLSAP NZ")

On 25 January 2022, the Group announced a plan to decide to
suspend the margin dealing business in New Zealand and to change
CLSAP NZ as a dormant company until there is any further decision to
be made. It could enable the Group to better utilise its resources in its
other segments. In June 2022, CLSAP NZ has returned its derivatives
issuer licence to the Financial Markets Authority of New Zealand.
CLSAP NZ has returned the client money in the segregation account
to the client. Thus, the operation of CLSAP NZ was classified as
discontinued operation as it has completed all necessary procedure of
cessation process and is no longer included in the note for operating
segment information.

CLSA Premium Pty Limited (“CLSAP AU")

In November 2022, the Australian Financial Services Licence of
CLSAP AU was cancelled by the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission. CLSAP AU was in the process of returning the client
money and has not yet completed as at 31 December 2022. The
operation of CLSAP AU was thus classified as continuing operation as
all necessary procedure of cessation of business is still ongoing.

Regarding the Australian and New Zealand operation, as announced
previously, the Group has decided to suspend the operations due to
regulatory and financial challenges in both countries. The suspension
has significantly reduced the total operation costs by HK$16.3
million and HK$5.9 million for the Australian and New Zealand entity
respectively, contributing to a reduction of the total expense of the
Group of approximately HK$24.5 million in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PG 2wk B oy i

On the condition that there shall be no adverse effect on the business
as a whole, the Group has continued to take actions to streamline
operations and enhance efficiency. Apart from the cost savings derived
from the suspension of the Australian and New Zealand operations,
the Group has reduced (i) approximately HK$7.8 million on the
depreciation on right-of-use assets which is related to office rent
mainly due to the relocation of the Hong Kong office, (i) approximately
HK$3.0 million in repair and maintenance mainly after negotiating a
new agreement with IT services provider and (iii) approximately HK$6.4
million in professional and consultancy expenses in the 2022 compared
with that of 2021.

Healthcare Products Business

The tightened regulatory requirements and COVID-19 pandemic have
hindered the business development of the Group’s existing Margin
Dealing Business. While the Group is actively reviewing and monitoring
the Margin Dealing Business, the Group has been evaluating other
business opportunities available, including the Healthcare Products
Business and has reviewed industry reports and researches relating to
the medicines and healthcare products trading. Pursuant to industry
reports, the pharmaceutical e-commerce has an extensive growth
of 25% from 2020 to 2021. After due consideration, the Group
decided in April 2022 to pursue and commence the Healthcare
Products Business and to monitor the on-going development of the
pharmaceutical e-commerce business.

In order to develop the Healthcare Products Business, the Group
engaged an industry expert, who has more than 20 years of experience
in retail management of medicine and operations of medicine and
healthcare products manufacturing, and appointed a specialist as a
director in subsidiary level. Both of them acted as part of the core
management team to lead the Healthcare Products Business.

In August 2022, the Group successfully obtained the Wholesaler
Licence in Proprietary Chinese Medicines issued by the Chinese
Medicines Traders Committee pursuant to the Chinese Medicine
Ordinance (Cap. 549 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The licence enables
the Group to expand its sales networks to both individual customers
online via the e-commerce stores (the “B2C Model”) and wholesale
customers offline (the “B2B Model").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

I

B

S
WA

BHE 2 5 Em B b

E-commerce Individual ;
Stores Customers After sales
? %} BHEE BAEE B
|
@E 99 Store management, Iogi;tics
= Chinese e "t
Medicine & Daily IR
Market Supplier agreement,
Exploration purchase orders Health B2B MOd\eI
pora B Supplement B2BHE
THIRER T @R .
B ERS Ro
&5
Purchase from
Suppliers Customer contracts, B2B Customers On-going
= purchase orders B2B review
B HLFER RS BEAH RETE &R iR

Under the B2C Model, the Group purchases products from suppliers,
manages cross-border supply chains, identifies target customers, and
sells products to individual customers in Mainland China through
online e-commerce stores operated by the Group. The Group manages
the entire operation of the e-commerce stores, including merchandise
operation, digital marketing, customer services and logistics
management. Under the B2B model, the Group sells the products
sourced from its suppliers to its wholesale customers, which, in turn,
on-sell to end users.

In the second quarter of 2022, after conducting a detailed market
analysis, the management considered a penetration into the healthcare
industry could diversify the Group's revenue sources and therefore
launched an initial exploration into the healthcare market. In May
2022, after hiring a team with significant experience in healthcare
products, the Group launched its healthcare products business via
various channels. The healthcare products segment has successfully
achieved approximately HK$7.6 million and HK$31.5 million of total
sales revenue respectively in the first half and second half of 2022.

The aforementioned efforts have allowed the Group to significantly
increase the total income and reduce the operating expenses
(excluding cost of sales). As a result, the operating loss for the
continuing operations has decreased by 40% from HK$48.7 million in
2021 to HK$29.2 million in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Total income

The total income of the Group for the continuing operations has
increased by approximately 377% to approximately HK$43.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$9.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

A. Sales of goods

The sales of goods of the Group for the continuing operations
was approximately HK$39.1 million in 2022, driven by the growth
of newly established healthcare products business.

B. Leveraged foreign exchange and other trading
income

The leveraged foreign exchange and other trading income
of the Group for the continuing operations has decreased by
approximately 52% to HK$1.3 million in 2022 from HK$2.7
million in 2021. The bullion trading business has recorded
approximately HK$2.0 million of trading income in 2022, offset
by approximately HK$0.8 million of trading loss in Australia.

C. Fee and commission income

The fee and commission income of the Group has decreased by
approximately 65% to HK$22,000 in 2022 from HK$63,000 in
2021, mainly due to suspension of stock trading business in New
Zealand. The operation in New Zealand is discontinued during the
year.

D. Other income

The other income of the Group for the continuing operations has
decreased by approximately 60% to HK$2.5 million in 2022 from
HK$6.2 million in 2021. In particular, management fee income
previously derived from services provided to a related party has
ceased from October 2021 therefore management fee income
is zero in 2022 (2021: HK$2.7 million). Government subsidies is
zero in 2022 (2021: HK$0.2 million as the JobKeeper Payment
Scheme launched by the Australian Government has ended in
April 2021). Interest income has increased by approximately
1700% to HK$1.8 million in 2022 from HK$0.1 million in 2021,
mainly driven by the increased interest from bank deposits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Total expenses

The total expense of the Group for the continuing operations has
increased by approximately 25% to approximately HK$72.3 million in
2022 from approximately HK$57.7 million in 2021, mainly driven by
the inclusion of the cost of sales of approximately HK$32.0 million for
the healthcare products business. Excluding the cost of sales, the total
expense was approximately HK$40.3 million in 2022, decreased by
approximately 30% from 2021.

Referral expenses and other charges

The referral expenses and other charges of the Group for the
continuing operations has increased to HK$2.1 million in 2022 from
HK$0.6 million in 2021. The increase was mainly driven by the increase
in trading volume from clients referred by business partners and client
rewards and the commission expense for the healthcare products
business.

Staff costs

The staff costs of the Group for the continuing operations has
decreased by approximately 35% to approximately HK$12.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$18.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Depreciation & amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for the continuing
operations has decreased to approximately HK$0.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$1.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Depreciation - right-of-use assets

Depreciation for right-of-use assets for the continuing operations has
decreased to approximately HK$1.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from approximately HK$9.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. The drop was mainly due to the office relocation
in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B PR E Z whm b o B

Other operating expenses

The other operating expenses of the Group for the continuing
operations has decreased to approximately HK$23.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$26.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021.
combined effect of the decrease of professional and consultancy fees

This was mainly due to

of HK$5.5 million, decrease of repair and maintenance of HK$3.0
million, and partially off set by the increase of marketing, advertising
and promotion expense of HK$4.4 million.

Net loss

Loss for the year of the Group for the continuing operations has
reduced by approximately 40% to approximately HK$29.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$49.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year under review, the operations of the Group were
financed principally by equity capital, cash generated by the Group's
business operations and cash and bank deposits.

As at 31 December 2022, cash and bank balances held by the Group
amounted to HK$211.8 million (2021: HK$234.5 million).

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio calculated on the basis of net debts (lease liabilities)
over the total shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2022 was zero
(2021: approximately 3.6%).

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and funds. All other financing methods will be considered
as long as such methods are beneficial to the Company. Bank deposits
mainly are in HK$, US$, AUD, NZD and RMB.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

During the year under review, the Group recorded a net foreign
exchange gain of approximately HK$3.5 million (2021: net foreign
exchange gain of approximately HK$3.6 million). This was mainly due
to the year-end translation of assets denominated in foreign currency
(mainly US dollar) into local reporting currency by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Australia and New Zealand. In addition, the Group
recorded a currency translation loss of approximately HK$6.9 million
(2021: currency translation loss of approximately HK$7.8 million),
mainly due to the year-end translation of net assets (denominated
in local currency) of the Australia and New Zealand subsidiaries, into
the Group's reporting currency (HK dollar). These contributed to
approximately HK$3.4 million exchange loss in total for the year under
review (2021: approximately HK$4.2 million exchange loss in total).
The foreign currency risk is managed proactively by regular reviews of
the currency positions in the basket of currency mix. To minimize the
risk exposure, the Group has a hedging strategy based on prevailing
market conditions and working capital requirements of subsidiaries.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year under review, the Group's capital structure consists of
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
DURING THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have
any significant investments held, material acquisitions and disposals.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group engaged a total of 8 employees
(2021: 35). Total staff costs including Directors’ remuneration for the
year under review amounting to approximately HK$14.0 million (2021:
approximately HK$24.7 million). The Group's remuneration policies
are in line with the prevailing market practices and are determined on
the basis of performance and experience of individual employees. The
Group provides retirement benefits in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations in the place where the staff is employed.

B PG 2w B o

5 EE Ja Bz

REBFE AEBRBIERRFELN
3,500,000 (ZE2Z—%F [ SMEWRIFEN
3,600,000787T) > EFERNARD B RN K
MABRZHBRAARERBEUNE (FEAE
) FIENEEREAESHMERE BRIt
oh > REE 315 5 1 & R E518496,900,00078 7T

TR EEREIELNT7,800,0008
7T)  EEAHERMN R ABNE QR RFER
REEZEUBSHEEE) KEATER Y
E2EHREM B) MR- ILERREROEFE
PG E R B & £493,400,0008 7T (ZE - —
F I EREBEEEN4,200,00087T) c KEE
ERECHEN—ETEBEARNNERFAR
B R INE R R o 25 5 2 MK P m R Y A B
AREBBRBERITHREMNBABINEEESS
KEBRE R

BARRE

REBFE ZEENEXRRBAREAQEE
EANEERE (BREEBETRA) Mf#E#E-

CEFEZEXRKRE - EAMBRLEHEB
»F]

BE_T__F+_A=+—HILFEE F&
EUrEFAEENERRE RETERWER
HESIE.

18 & R #r B B R

MR- _#+-_A=+—H A&EESHE
8L EE (CE - —F:358) - REEEERN
BT A4 (BIEEEHE) 2414,000,000
BT (CE - —4F 1 4924,700,00058 7)) o &
ENFMBREFTERTTHBEANLRIEE TE
ANKRRECEMEE AEERBE TSR
FRE B AE R A RIR R AREH o

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED -2 4FE#j;

19



20

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, there was no bank balance of the Group
used to secure the banking facilities (as at 31 December 2021: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the Group’s contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022
are set out in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements (the
“Notes").

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed, the Directors are not aware of any significant event
requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS,
CAPITAL ASSETS AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

For margin dealing Business, subject to market conditions and local
laws and regulations, the Group will consider expanding the bullion
trading business by covering other commodities, including crypto-
currency products, and by enhancing the VIP scheme according to on-
going customer feedbacks.

With (i) the relaxation of social distancing measures and travel
restrictions in China and Hong Kong; and (i) the implementation of
improvements and enhancements based on feedbacks received from
the VIP scheme, the Group expects its Hong Kong's bullion trading
business will keep growing. The Group will continue to monitor the
operation of the bullion trading business and, subject to the market
condition and market opportunities, explore ways to expand the
bullion trading business further.

For healthcare products business, given the encouraging results to the
date of this report, the Group will continue to expand its healthcare
products business. It is expected that the healthcare products business
will continue to grow based on the current market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Regarding online sales, under the B2C Model the Group will focus
on streamlining the newly established business operation and the
expansion of its product line-up. The Group will allocate more
resources to establish more online shops via other famous e-commerce
marketplace, making use of different promotion channels and
marketing partners to raise brand awareness as well as sourcing
unique healthcare products directly from the manufacturers. The
Group will coordinate its marketing and promotion activities with the
brand owners’ own marketing and positioning strategies. In addition,
the Group plans to conduct additional marketing and promotional
activities on the Internet, paying for more favourable screen space on
the relevant e-commerce portals, doing live broadcast and adopting
other search engine optimization measures so as to increase the
visibility and web traffic of the online stores to consumers and capture
a wider customer base.

Apart from the existing business as described above, the Group
has decided to further expand its business model in trading various
healthcare products through obtaining a Wholesale Dealer Licence
under the Drug Office of the Department of Health in Hong Kong.
This could expand the product offerings of the Group from Chinese
medicines to other renowned healthcare products from Japan, Europe,
North America and other countries around the globe.

In addition to distributing products of third-party brands, the Group
is also exploring opportunities to produce healthcare products under
the original design manufacturing (ODM) model. The Group considers
that this will be an invaluable opportunity as ODM products will not
only expand the Group's products offering to its customers (under both
B2C Model and the B2B Model) but also increase profit margins of the
Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HEEWE

The Board presents its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in the Notes.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31
December 2022 by geographical and service/product segments are set
out in the Notes.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in the section headed “Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income” of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the results and of the financial position
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, prepared on the basis set
out in the Notes. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December
BE+-B=1+-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

b Janfeny RT-F  IZIZE  IE-AF IZ)\F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TER FTET TET TERT
(Restated)
(=5

Total income Nt 46,036 11,765 11,861 18,018 471,11
~ Continuing operations —HEREER 43,041 9,029
- Discontinued operations —BRIEREER 2,995 2,736
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+-R=1-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
k- otk RT-F  IZIZE  IE-AF IZ)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER FTET TET TERT
(Restated)
(&5
Profit/(loss) before tax BRIRANER (5518) (30,979) (57,912) (81,158) (180,457) 51,757
- Continuing operations —FHEREER (29,421) (48,971)
- Discontinued operations —BRIEREER (1,558) (8,941)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREH/ (B8 (31,052) (56,542) (71,636) (179,988) 34,249
~ Continuing operations —FHEREER (29,518) (48,971)
- Discontinued operations —BRIEREER (1,534) (7,571)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FR2ANREG/ (%) L5
for the year (37,957) (64,299) (57,956) (181,291) 19,144
- Continuing operations —REREEE (31,853) (50,868)
- Discontinued operations —BRIECEER (6,104) (13,431)
As at 31 December
®+=ZB=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
k- otk ZT-F  IZITE  IZ-AF IZ)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER FTET FTET TERT
Total assets BEEE 284,310 330,616 430,436 504,244 1,139,242
Total liabilities BEE (53,510) (61,859) (97,380) (113,263) (567,536)
230,800 268,757 333,056 390,981 571,706
Total equity and liabilities mrEkaE 284,310 330,616 430,436 504,244 1,139,242
Net current assets MBEETE 229,955 263,146 321,925 376,907 712,811
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDEE 230,800 274,997 336,633 406,415 767,819
BUSINESS REVIEW e o)
Business Review and Future Prospect EBOERRKA R

Since the listing of the Company’s shares (the “Share(s)”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 3
July 2013, the Company has been implementing its business plans
to accomplish its business objectives. A review of the business of the
Group during the year and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided in the sections of “Statement from the
Deputy Chief Executive Officer” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis”.
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Financial Key Performance Indicators

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the section of “Management
Discussion and Analysis”.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, some of which are inherent to its business and some
are affected by the external environment. The Group’s major risks are
summarized below.

(1) Financial risks

The Group's principal business activities are exposed to a variety
of key financial risks including credit risk arising from defaults or
deterioration in creditworthiness of counterparties, borrowers and
security issuers; market risk (such as interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk), and liquidity risk arising from shortage of funds
and/or illiquidity of securities. Details of the aforesaid key risks and
risk mitigation measures are set out in the Notes.

(2) Macro-economic environment

Adverse macro-economic changes may affect the business
environment such as the increasing geopolitical risks in Europe
and Asia, high interest rate environment and unforeseeable
monetary and fiscal policies, which may in turn affect the
operating results. It is therefore important that the Group is able
to keep track of such changes of macro-economic environment
and swiftly adjusts its operating policy and business plan under
different market conditions.

(3) Information technology systems

Financial services sector is highly dependent on information
technology systems and cyber security. Any material disruption
or slowdown of our IT systems, such as system upgrade failures,
system errors, viruses or cyber attacks could cause data loss or
operation interruption. Therefore, we invest continuously in our IT
systems so as to keep up with the latest cyber security standard.
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(4) Legal and compliance risks

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 6 August
2019, 24 January 2020 and 12 May 2020, the Company
obtained the injunction order and issued a writ of summons
against Banclogix System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”) in the
High Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “High Court”). In November 2020, the three licensed
subsidiaries of the Company, namely CLSA Premium International
(HK) Limited, CLSA Premium Pty Limited and CLSA Premium
New Zealand Limited (“CLSAP NZ"), have joined the Company
as plaintiffs to claim against Banclogix for, among others,
repudiatory breach by Banclogix of the IT Service Agreement
entered into with Banclogix on 28 December 2018 (“IT Service
Agreement”) and other costs and damages associated with such
breach. The Company received a writ of summons together with
an indorsement of claim dated 6 May 2020 issued in the High
Court by Banclogix against the Company. Banclogix claims against
the Company for, among others, alleged repudiatory breach of
the IT Service Agreement and entitlement to certain fees therein.

These two actions with Banclogix as mentioned above will be
heard by the court together and it has not proceeded to the trial
stage yet.

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 24 June
2020, CLSAP NZ received a statement of claim filed by the
Financial Markets Authority of New Zealand in the High Court of
New Zealand for alleged breaches of the Anti-Money Laundering
and Countering Financing of Terrorism Act 2009 by CLSAP NZ. As
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 13 September
2021, the penalty hearing had taken place on 5 July 2021. On 10
September 2021, the judgment is entered against CLSAP NZ for
the four civil liability acts and a pecuniary penalty of NZD770,000
has been imposed. The claim was settled after the penalty was
paid in October 2021.

Further, our businesses may be subject to change of laws and
regulations, tightening of regulatory compliance requirements
and practices of the regulators which are out of our control.
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The above is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group. These may change
over time as new risks and uncertainties emerge and others
cease to be of concern. The Directors will constantly evaluate
the Group’s business objectives and may change or modify plans
against the changing market condition to avert or minimise the
risks so as to attain sustainable business growth of the Group.

Environmental Policy and Performance

We are committed to protect the environment by introducing a green
policy to enhance the awareness of environmental protection among
staff. The Group has implemented internal recycling programme for
office consumables such as toner cartridges and paper to minimise the
operation impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in offices
and branch premises where applicable, such as taking initiatives to
reduce paper usage by encouraging the use of websites and online
version of corporate communications. As regards reduction of power
consumption, we have a policy that lighting, air-conditioners and office
equipment shall be turned off when not in use.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements. The Group has been allocating resources to ensure the
Group’s ongoing compliance with the updated applicable rules and
regulations. During the reporting period, the Group had complied
with the laws, regulations and regulatory requirements of the places
where the Group operates in all material respects including the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant rules, regulations and guidelines of the regulatory authorities.
The Group had maintained all necessary licences for its businesses
throughout the reporting period.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group's success also lies on the support from key stakeholders,
including employees, customers, bankers, service providers and
shareholders. Thus, the Group maintains close relationship with our
stakeholders.
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Employees

The Group treasures our employees as the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resources management is to reward and recognise our employees by
providing a competitive remuneration package, appropriate incentives,
and opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

The employees are paid a fixed salary and may be granted other
allowances based on their position. In addition, discretionary bonuses
may also be awarded to our employees based on the employee'’s
performance. We conduct regular appraisals to ensure our employees
receive feedback on their performance and discuss with them on their
needs.

Customers

The Group is committed to provide excellent services to our customers
with a view to maintaining steady business and asset growth as well as
long term profitability.

To facilitate the Group’s business plan and development of the margin
dealing business, the Group will upgrade its information technology
systems from time to time, such as the rolling out of a mobile foreign
exchange trading application to make it more convenient for existing
and future clients to trade forex products with the Group's companies
and to strengthen the Group’s competitiveness. The Group will
launch a variety of marketing activities to expand our customer base
such as holding seminars, launching digital marketing campaign and
sponsoring events. For healthcare products business, the Group will
implement more VIP scheme to reward the customers who achieved a
target of the sales volume.

Besides, the Group will keep recruiting experienced and talented
personnel with relevant experience and knowledge to strengthen the
Group'’s business.

Bankers
The Group has maintained excellent relationship with our bankers and
we are able to obtain funds from our bankers as and when necessary.

Service Providers

The Group's key service providers comprise system and equipment
vendors, external consultants who provide professional services, and
other business partners who provide value-added services to the
Group.
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Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to our shareholders. Description of the shareholders’ rights
and our investor relations can be found in the section of “Corporate
Governance Report”.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company's corporate governance practices is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the
Notes.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital during the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in the Notes and the section headed
“Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the section of “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity”.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the
share premium account and retained earnings of the Company are
distributable to the Company’s shareholders subject to the provisions
of the Company’s memorandum and articles of association and
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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As at 31 December 2022, in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company's reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders were approximately HK$53 million (2021: approximately
HK$84 million).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The dividend payout ratio
shall be determined or recommended, as appropriate, by the Board
at its absolute discretion after taking into account of the operating
results, cash flow, financial condition and capital requirements of the
Group, and subject to:

e the Company’s articles of association;

e the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands; and

e any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a
sustainable dividend policy. The Company’s dividend policy aims to
allow our shareholders to participate in the Company's profit and
for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the Group's future
growth.

The payment and the amount of dividends (if any) will depend on the
Group’s result of operations, cash flows, financial position, working
capital requirements, future expansion plans, general economic
conditions, future prospects, statutory and regulatory restrictions
on the payment of dividends by the Group, and other factors that
the Company may consider relevant. The Company does not have
any predetermined dividend distribution proportion or distribution
ratio. Any future declarations of dividends may or may not reflect
the Company’s historical declarations of dividends and will be at the
discretion of the Directors taking into account the aforesaid factors.
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Any payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the constitutional
documents, which indicate that dividends may be declared and paid
out of the profits, realised or unrealised, or from any reserves set aside
from profits. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends
may also be declared and paid out of the share premium account or
any other fund or account which can be authorised for this purpose in
accordance with the relevant law.

There can be no assurance that dividends of any amount will be
declared or distributed in any year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers,
in terms of the realized revenue from customers, accounted for 42%
of the total revenue for the year, while the sales to the Group's largest
customer accounted for 21% of the total revenue for the year. The
purchase from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 98% of
the total purchase for the year, while the purchase from the Group's
largest supplier accounted for 75% of the total purchase for the year.

At no time during the year have the Directors, or any of their
associates, or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had any
interest in these major customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme for the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in the Notes.
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DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report, the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuan Feng (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Jiong (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jiangiang

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Jianfeng
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia

In accordance with article 84 of the Company’s articles of association,
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation but are
eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting and annual general meeting of the Company
respectively, and shall then be eligible for re-election pursuant to article
83(3) of the Company’s articles of association.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Directors,
who shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Details could be
referred to the circular which will be despatched to the Company’s
shareholders in April 2023.

Further, each of the independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his/her independence of the Company and the Company
considers each of them to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines of assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors have entered into any service contract with any
member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections of “Related Party Transactions” and
“Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Notes, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group'’s
business to which any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the year or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in the Notes.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections of “Interests and Short Positions
of Directors and Chief Executive in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during the
year or at the end of the year has been/was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company’s Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of
their duty in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been
in force throughout the reporting period. The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’” and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had any business or
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Company’s share option scheme as disclosed below,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares were
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 3
June 2013. A summary of the Scheme is as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is for the Group to attract, retain
and motivate talented Participants (as defined below) to strive for
future developments and expansion of the Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, invite the
following persons as participants (the "Participants”) of the

Scheme:
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(c)

(i) any executive or non-executive Director including any
independent non-executive Director or any employee
(whether full-time or part-time) of any member of the
Group;

(i) any trustee of a trust (whether family, discretionary or
otherwise) whose beneficiaries or objects include any
employee or business associate of the Group;

(i) any consultant (in the areas of legal, technical, financial or
corporate management) and other adviser to any member
of the Group;

(iv) any supplier of goods and/or services to the Group; or

(v) any other person whom the Board considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed to the Group.

In determining the basis of eligibility of each Participant, the
Board would take into account such factors as the Board may at
its discretion consider appropriate.

Basis for determining the exercise price and
acceptance of offer

The exercise price of an option granted to subscribe for Shares
under the Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board at its
sole discretion and notified to the Participant and shall be no less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date on which
an option is granted; (i) the average closing prices of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date on which an
option is granted; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted by the
grantee when the duplicate of the relevant offer letter comprising
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee together
with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 (or such
other nominal sum in any currency as the Board may determine)
by way of consideration for the grant.
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(d) Maximum numbers available for issue

(e)

(f)

The total number of the Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the Company’s issued share capital
as at the adoption date (the “General Scheme Limit"”) unless
further shareholders’ approval is obtained in general meeting,
provided that options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
General Scheme Limit.

Notwithstanding the foregoing the total number of the Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and other
schemes involving the issue or grant of options or similar rights
over the Shares or other securities by the Company must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

For each Participant, the total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and further to be
granted in any 12-month period (including both exercised and
outstanding options) and in the 12-month period up to and
including the acceptance date (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) shall not in isolation or aggregate exceed
1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of such grant, and any
grant of option which would result in such limit being exceeded
shall be approved by the Company in general meeting with such
Participant and any associate thereof abstaining from voting.

Time of exercise of the option

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme at any time during the period
commencing on the first business day from the date of grant
of option and expiring at the close of business on a date to be
determined and notified by the Directors which shall not be more
than 10 years from the date of grant of option.

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated at the time
of granting the option, there is no minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.
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(9)

(h)

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 3 July 2013 to offer the grant of an option to
any qualifying participants.

Movements of the options granted under the Scheme

On 10 January 2014, the Company granted options to 68
individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000 Shares.
Among the 40,000,000 options granted, 14,920,000 options
were granted to the then six Directors. Among the 40,000,000
options granted, 33,040,000 options had been exercised and
6,960,000 options were forfeited or lapsed during the year 2014
to 2015.

On 19 August 2015, the Company granted options to 95
individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000 Shares.
Among the 40,000,000 options granted, 12,200,000 options
were granted to the then six Directors. Among the 40,000,000
options granted, 200,000 options had been exercised and
39,800,000 options was lapsed during the year 2015 to 2019.

On 29 December 2016, the Company granted options to 95
individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000 Shares.
Among the 40,000,000 options granted, 11,750,000 options
were granted to the then six Directors. Among the 40,000,000
options granted, 50,000 options had been exercised and
39,950,000 options were lapsed during the year 2017 to 2020.

On 22 March 2018, the Company granted options to 82
individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000 Shares.
Among the 40,000,000 options granted, 12,200,000 options
were granted to the then five Directors. Among the 40,000,000
options granted, 27,200,000 options were lapsed during the year
2018 to 2020 and there are 12,800,000 options still valid for
exercise.
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Details of the movements of the options granted under the
Scheme are set out in the Notes.

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors,
chief executive, deputy chief executive, substantial shareholders
of the Company or their respective associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) had any right to subscribe for the Company’
shares under the Scheme.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors nor the Company’s
chief executive had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong, the “SFO") (i) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be recorded in the register as referred to therein; or (i)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2022, so far as the Directors and the Company’s
chief executive are aware, other than the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the Company’s chief executive as disclosed, the
following persons had interests or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

RIFEFRPERAATREZ RRER K
o

RIE

BEERERFARSTHRAEMA KR _F
TFE+ A=t —H BARBEZEFERA
REERBITHRAEBZEmREKAINI  LUTFAL
RAERBHRMOIERERN T HEA BREES
REHEHEOIEXVEFE2R3DE 2 R XA AR
ARBHCHNARARDREEST RMERHE
3BIR BB EFHELMAMAEMBS AN EERR

the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange:

Number of shares/

) 5 B 22 P B9 7

A

Approximate

underlying shares held % of the
Frisikin /ABRARZ 1A 8B number of
Derivative issued shares
Name Capacity Shares interests Total HEETRG
2y g% eabi TS By HESMNESL
CITIC Securities International Beneficial owner 1,200,310,001 - 1,200,310,001 59.03%
Company Limited
HESERERAT BREEA
CITIC Securities Company Limited Interests of controlled 1,200,310,001 - 1,200,310,001 59.03%
corporation
HEESRHBRAE RERZEER
KVB Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 14.75%
BREEA
Li Zhi Da Interests of controlled 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 14.75%
corporation
FEE RERZEER
Calypso International Investment Beneficial owner 106,355,000 - 106,355,000 5.23%
Co., Limited
BREEA
Hainan Province Cihang Foundation  Interests of controlled 106,355,000 - 106,355,000 5.23%
corporation
BHEEMARESS RERZEER
Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Interests of controlled 106,355,000 - 106,355,000 5.23%

Educational Exchange Foundation
Limited

EMEAOANHXREES
BRAE

corporation

RERERED
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notes:

o As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 17 November 2022
and 22 November 2022, CITIC Securities Overseas Investment Company
Limited transferred its entire interest in the Company to CITIC Securities
International Company Limited (“CSI"). CSI, therefore, beneficially owns
1,200,310,001 Shares. As CSl is wholly and beneficially owned by CITIC
Securities Company Limited (“CITIC Securities”), by virtue of the SFO,
CITIC Securities was deemed to be interested in those Shares held by CSI.

o KVB Holdings Limited (“KHL" formerly known as “KVB Kunlun Holdings
Limited”) beneficially owns 300,000,000 Shares. KHL is held 75% of
shares by Mr. Li Zhi Da (“Mr. Li"). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Li was deemed
to be interested in those Shares held by KHL.

o Calypso International Investment Co., Limited was a wholly owned
subsidiary of /@M Eiz% % (L&) AR /A, which was in turn wholly
owned by HNA Group Co., Ltd.. HNA Group Co., Ltd. was held as to
70% by Hainan Traffic Administration Holding Co., Ltd.. Hainan Traffic
Administration Holding Co., Ltd. was in turn held as to 50% by Sheng
Tang Development (Yangpu) Co., Ltd.. Sheng Tang Development (Yangpu)
Co., Ltd. was held as to 65% by Hainan Province Cihang Foundation and
35% by Tang Dynasty Development Co. Ltd. which was in turn 98% held
by Pan-American Aviation Holding Company, which was wholly owned
by Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Exchange Foundation
Limited. Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Exchange
Foundation Limited and Hainan Province Cihang Foundation were
deemed under the SFO to be interested in entire 106,355,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Calypso International Investment Co.,
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, there was no other
person (other than the Directors and the Company’s chief executive)
who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance in relation to the Group'’s
business to which any member of the Group was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year 2022.
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance (including provision of
services) between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the

year ended 31 December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are disclosed in the Notes. Certain
of these transactions also constitute continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, as identified below.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Sharing of Office premises

In order to continue our operations overseas, as announced by the
Company on 9 March 2020, CLSA Premium Pty Limited (“CLSAP AU"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
service level agreement (the “Australian Service Level Agreement”)
with CLSA Australia Services Pty Ltd (“CLSA Australia Pty”), a company
incorporated in Australia and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC
Securities (a controlling shareholder of the Company) for a term of
three years from 14 February 2020 to 13 February 2023. Under the
Australian Service Level Agreement, CLSA Australia Pty shall provide
or procure the provision of (i) sharing of office space and common
use of certain facilities at Level 35, Grosvenor Place, 225 George
Street, Sydney NSW 2000; and (ii) administrative services including
utilities, kitchen consumables and receptionist services to CLSAP AU.
The annual cap of the transactions contemplated under the Australian
Service Level Agreement for each of the three years ended/ending
31 December 2020, 31 December 2021, 31 December 2022 and the
period ending 13 February 2023 is AUD105,573.77 (approximately
HK$633,443), AUD120,000 (approximately HK$720,000),
AUD120,000 (approximately HK$720,000) and AUD14,465.75
(approximately HK$86,795) respectively.
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On 1 May 2021, CLSAP AU entered into a novation deed with CLSA
Australia Pty and CLSA Australia Holdings Pty Ltd (“CLSA AH") for
CLSA AH to take up the rights of, and assume the obligations of,
CLSA Australia Pty under same terms and conditions of the Service
Level Agreement dated 14 February 2020 entered into between CLSAP
AU and CLSA Australia Pty. On 9 March 2022, CLSAP AU received
a termination notice from CLSA AH to terminate the Novation Deed
dated 1 May 2021 and the Service Level Agreement dated 14 February
2020.

Information Technology Services

As disclosed under the section headed “Litigation and Contingent
Liabilities” in the Notes, the Company is still in litigation with Banclogix
System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
KVB Holdings Limited, regarding a previous information technology
services agreement dated 28 December 2018 (the “Previous IT Services

Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Previous IT Services Agreement, Banclogix provided
software development and maintenance services, information
technology infrastructure project management services and
information technology infrastructure maintenance services to the

Group.

However, as disclosed in the announcement dated 6 August 2019
and the 2019 Annual Report of the Company, Banclogix has, among
others, denied access requested by the Company to the relevant
data. The Group had obtained an injunction order which prohibited
Banclogix from, among others, (i) deleting or disposing any data
owned by the Group (the “Group’s Data”) and (ii) damaging, deleting,
modifying, destroying or disposing of any back-up tapes or other
back-up storage media which contained the Group's Data, which was
subsequently substituted by Banclogix’s undertakings to the Court to
the same effect. The continuation, variation or discharge of the said
injunction order and/or undertakings are now pending judgment from
the Court. The Company’s three licensed subsidiaries in Australia, New
Zealand and Hong Kong have joined in November 2020 as plaintiffs
against Banclogix for, among others, repudiatory breaches of the
Previous IT Services Agreement by Banclogix.
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As announced by the Company on 23 March 2020, the Company
issued a letter of termination of the Previous IT Services Agreement
to Banclogix on 19 March 2020. On 6 May 2020, the Company
received a writ of summons issued from the High Court for an
action commenced by Banclogix against the Company the details of
which are set out in the section headed “Litigation and Contingent
Liabilities”.

New Information Technology Service Agreement

In view of such ongoing litigation with Banclogix, it is necessary for
the Company to engage a new service provider to provide information
technology services to the Group. As announced by the Company on
9 March 2020, the Company entered into an information technology
services agreement (the “New Information Technology Services
Agreement”) with CLSA Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC
Securities, for a term of three years from 17 March 2020 to 16
March 2023 whereby CLSA Limited agreed to provide (i) technology
infrastructure design, implementation, monitoring, maintenance and
remote support services; (i) software development, implementation,
monitoring, maintenance and remote support services; (iii) front office
sales trading, dealing, execution system; (iv) website services; (v)
market data databases and distribution platforms for all systems; (vi)
system access account administration services and reporting, security
monitoring, and security consulting services; and (vii) information
technology service management services to the Group.

The Company shall pay () a fixed annual fees at US$115,000; (i) a
variable monthly fee based on actual usage of the relevant services,
charged at US$3,635 per user per annum; and (iii) in respect of
project management service, a fee charged by cost actually incurred
as listed in the Statement of Work as agreed by the relevant Group
company and CLSA Limited prior to the start of the project. Unless
otherwise specified in the Statement of Work, an amount will be
charged at HK$5,500 per man day. The annual cap of the transactions
contemplated under the New Information Technology Services
Agreement for each of the three years ended/ending 31 December
2020, 31 December 2021, 31 December 2022 and the period ending
16 March 2023 is HK$2,422,000, HK$3,504,000, HK$4,078,000 and
HK$862,000 respectively.
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On 6 June 2022, the Company and CLSA Limited had entered into
another services agreement to replace the New Information Technology
Services Agreement. As pursuant to Rule 14A.76, the transaction
in relation to the services agreement dated 6 June 2022 is fully
exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements.

All independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed
that the above continuing connected transactions have been entered
into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than
terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company's shareholders as a whole.

The Directors also confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the auditor must
provide a letter to the Board confirming whether anything has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that the continuing
connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Board,;

(2) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(3) have exceeded the cap.

The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” above. A copy of the auditor's letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

Save and except for the legal actions as disclosed during the reporting
period, the Group did not have any material litigation or arbitration.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING
THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any material acquisitions, disposals or asset
reorganizations during the reporting period.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Since 1 June 2022, Mr. Xu Jiangiang has been appointed as the Head
of Asset Management of CLSA.

On 27 June 2022, Mr. Yuan Feng, Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield,
Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Ms. Hu Zhaoxia have renewed the director’s
service contract with the Company accordingly under the same terms
and conditions of the one which expired on 26 June 2022. The basis
for determining the Directors’ emoluments (including bonus payments)
remained unchanged during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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On 10 March 2023, the Company received notices from Mr. Li
Jiong, Mr. Xu Jiangiang and Mr. Yuan Feng accordingly for waiving
the director's fee (the director's fee for Mr. Li Jiong and Mr. Xu
Jiangiang both are HK$120,000 for each year and for Mr. Yuan
Feng is HK$20,000 per month) with effect from 1 April 2023 till the
termination of the appointment as the Company’s non-Executive
Director/Executive Director.

Save as disclosed, during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
up to the date of this report, there were no other changes to the
Directors’ information that are required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 has been audited by BDO Limited, who will retire and
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment as auditor at the
Company's forthcoming annual general meeting.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) on 18 December 2012 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia,
Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield. Ms. Hu
Zhaoxia is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year to review (i) the
annual and interim results and the accompanying auditor’s reports, (ii)
the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company, and (iii)
the financial reporting matters, risk management and internal control
systems of the Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group's audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
submitted its views to the Board.

On behalf of the Board

Yuan Feng

Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 13 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the "Group”) is committed to high standards of corporate governance,
as it believes that an effective corporate governance framework
is fundamental to promoting and safeguarding interests of its
shareholders and other stakeholders and enhancing shareholder value.
It has continued and will continue to identify and adopt the best

corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODES

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code"”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in a
whole year of 2022. The Board will continue to review and monitor the
Company's corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with
the Code and the application of the principles as mentioned in Code.
The Company had adopted certain policies to maintain higher level of
compliance with the Codes throughout the year 2022 and to report on
whether any non-compliance with the Codes, if any, was fully disclosed
and explained in this report. The Company's corporate governance
system has been reviewed by the corporate governance committee
annually. The Board believes that the commitment of high-standard
corporate governance will provide long-term value and maximised
returns to the Company’s shareholders (the “Shareholder(s)”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The principal objective of the Company is to enhance long-term total
return for the Shareholders.

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies and
policies, including an oversight of the management. The Company's
management is responsible for the Company’s daily operations under
the leadership of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.
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Up to the date of this report, the Board is comprised of seven
members comprising two executive Directors (Mr. Yuan Feng as
Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco),
two non-executive Directors (Mr. Li Jiong as the Chairman of the
Board and Mr. Xu Jiangiang) and three independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Wu Jianfeng, Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield and
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia). Throughout the year, the Company has fulfilled
the requirement of rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules that (i)
at least three independent non-executive directors; (i) at least one
of the independent non-executive directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise; and (iii) the number of independent non-
executive Directors on the Board meets the one-third requirement.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a specific term, and his term of office is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company's articles of association and the Listing Rules. For all non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, the
term of them has been fixed for 3 years and they are also subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association and the Listing Rules.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section of
“Board’s Profile” in this annual report and on the Company's website.
A list setting out the names of the Directors and their roles and
functions is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Each Director has disclosed to the Company, if any, in a timely manner
of any change, the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments. All
such changes, if any, during the year and up to the date of this report
have been disclosed in the section of “Directors’ Report” in this annual
report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In determining the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, the Board has followed the requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules. The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation,
the Company is of the view that all the independent non-executive
Directors have met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers that they are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Since 27 June 2019, Mr. Li Jiong has
been appointed as the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Yuan Feng has
been appointed as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer. Following the
resignation of the Company’s chief executive officer on 28 July 2019,
Mr. Yuan Feng has assumed the position and performed the duty of
the chief executive officer.

The Board will keep reviewing the current structure of the Board from
time to time. The Board is also identifying a candidate with suitable
knowledge, skills and experience, and will make appointment to fill the
vacancy of chief executive officer as and when appropriate.

RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS

Pursuant to article 84 of the Company’s articles of association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director, including those appointed
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. All the retiring Directors shall be eligible for
re-election. Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Company's articles of
association, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office until the first general meeting of Members after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.
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In accordance with above mentioned, Directors, who shall retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election.

ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly. During the year 2022, four regular Board
meetings were held in which two of the regular Board meetings were
for the approval of the Company’s interim and annual results. Notices
for regular Board meetings were given to all Directors at least 14 days
prior to the meetings. Between scheduled meetings, the Company's
senior management, from time to time, meets with Directors to
discuss the Group's businesses. In addition, Directors have full access
to information on the Group and independent professional advice
whenever deemed necessary by the Directors.

The attendance of each of the Directors at the general meetings
(included annual general meeting), Board meetings and meetings of
the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee
and corporate governance committee held during the year 2022 is set
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Directors and officers are indemnified under a directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them in
the discharge of their duties while holding office as the Directors and
officers of the Company.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding
transactions in securities of the Company by the Directors and the
relevant employees of the Company (including directors or employees
of subsidiaries of the Company) who are likely to possess inside
information of the Company and/or its securities.

Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the Model Code in their securities transactions
throughout the year 2022. Besides, no incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code by the employees was noted by the Company.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting
than the Model Code for employees in respect of their dealing in
the Company’s shares and established written guidelines on inside
dealings in relation to the Company and the securities transaction of
the Company with reference to Division 4 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571).

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills so as to ensure their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company should
be responsible for arranging and funding suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the Director.
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During the vyear, all the Directors were provided with commentary
on the Group's business, operations, and financial matters as well
as regular updates on applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
The Company had also provided the Directors with the materials and
information update including the Directors’ obligations as required
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In
addition, individual Directors have also participated in other courses
relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director
or further enhancement of their professional development by way
of attending training courses or via online aids or reading relevant
materials. All the Directors had provided their training records to the
Company for the year under review.
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Directors Type of trainings
55 B
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. YUAN Feng RIELRE A
Mr. CHUNG Cheuk Fan Marco FE=Eyibie A/B
Non-executive Directors ERITES

Mr. LI Jiong =iy A
Mr. XU Jiangiang FrEaRit A A
Independent non-executive Directors BIEHITES

Mr. WU Jianfeng Ha gk A
Mr. Christopher Wesley SATTERFIELD Christopher Wesley SATTERFIELDt 4 A/B
Ms. HU Zhaoxia EEE kg A

A: attending internal briefing sessions/reading materials in relation to
corporate governance and regulatory updates.

B:  attending seminars/courses/conference to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code has been adopted. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to evaluate
the performance and determine the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management of the Group, and evaluate the
performance and make recommendations on any other employee
benefit arrangement.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for (i) make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for all Directors” and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (ii) review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objectives; (iii) make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, and any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office(s) or appointment(s), and to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors; (iv) consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and any of its subsidiaries; (v) review and
approve compensation payable to executive Directors and senior
management for any loss or termination of office(s) or appointment(s)
to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise
fair and not excessive; (vi) review and approve compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; (vii) ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration; and (viii) make recommendations to the Board as it
deems appropriate on any area within its scope of duties where action
or improvement is needed.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, namely, Mr. Yuan Feng, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Mr. Christopher Wesley
Satterfield. Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee. Majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of reference
in compliance with the Code has been adopted. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding nomination of suitable
candidate to fill vacancies in the Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of one non-executive Director,
namely, Mr. Li Jiong (the Chairman of the Board), and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield
and Ms. Hu Zhaoxia. Mr. Li Jiong is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. Majority of the members of the Nomination Committee
are independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee considered and reviewed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors, the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, and the
attendance records of the Board meetings, committees meetings
and general meetings for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Nomination Committee recommended the Board to approve the
proposed sequence for re-election of retiring Directors in annual
general meeting to be held in 2023. The Nomination Committee
considers that the existing policy for nomination, selection and
recommendation for directorship are suitable. The Nomination
Committee also considered and make recommendations to the Board
on the proposed appointment of Directors, if any, during the year
ended 31 December 2022. Save as disclosed, there were no other new
appointment to the Board during the year.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in
the boardroom. The Board has therefore adopted a board diversity
policy which stated that the Board sees diversity as a wide concept
and believes that a diversity of perspectives can be achieved through
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to skills,
regional and industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities. In informing its perspective on diversity, the Company will
also take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are
required to support the execution of its business strategy and in order
for the Board to be effective.

The Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

Character and integrity;

e Personal attributes including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and expertise that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy, and the ability to
provide insights and practical wisdom based on those attributes;

e Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, other directorships, memberships of various
committees and significant commitments;

e  For independent non-executive Directors to be appointed in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

e Ability to develop a good working relationship with other Board
members and contribute to the Board's working relationship with
senior management of the Company;

e  Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by
the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;

and

e Any other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in
the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race, gender
and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All
Board appointments will be based on merit while taking into account
diversity (including gender diversity).

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually measurable
objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and recommend
them to the Board for adoption. The Nomination Committee
will report annually, in the Corporate Governance Report, on the
Board's composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of this policy.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

“Audit
Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of reference in

The Company established an audit committee (the

compliance with the Code has been adopted. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and risk management and internal control systems
of the Company, nominate and monitor external auditor and provide
advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia, Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Mr.
Christopher Wesley Satterfield. Ms. Hu Zhaoxia is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has met the external auditor of the Group to
review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, risk management and internal control systems
and financial reporting matters including the review of this annual
report and financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
reviewed with the management and the auditor of the Company
their audit findings, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Company, legal and regulatory compliance, and financial
reporting matters. The Audit Committee also considered and
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment of the
Company's auditor.

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established a corporate governance committee (the
"CG Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of reference
in compliance with the Code has been adopted. The primary duties of
the CG Committee are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board.

The CG Committee currently consists of one non-executive Director,
namely, Mr. Xu Jiangiang, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield and Ms. Hu
Zhaoxia. Mr. Xu liangiang is the chairman of the CG Committee.
Majority of the members of CG Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year 2022, the CG Committee considered and reviewed the
progress on the implementation of the Group’s corporate governance
framework. The CG Committee also reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company. Besides, the CG Committee
considered and reviewed the environmental, social and governance
reporting proposal. The CG Committee considers that the existing
policies and practices of corporate governance of the Company are
suitable.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors ensure the Group’s financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial
statements and the auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the section
of "Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the Company's assets and
Shareholders’ interests, and, with the Audit Committee, for reviewing
areas of risk and uncertainty, the operation and effectiveness of the
Group's systems of internal control and the procedures by which these
are monitored. In order to reduce the costs, the Board has delegated
the Group's compliance department to conduct the enterprise risk
assessment and internal control assessment over certain business
processes of the Group during the year to ensure and maintain sound
internal control functions by monitoring such internal control systems
and procedures so as to ensure that they can provide reasonable
assurance against misstatement or loss and to manage risks of failure
in the Group's operational systems.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed all material
internal control, including financial, operational and compliance
control. Together with the Audit Committee, the Board received and
considered the information from the management, external auditor
and the in-house compliance specialist in respect of the effectiveness
of the Group's certain internal control systems and have considered
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company's accounting and financial reporting function. The
Board is satisfied that the financial, operational, compliance controls,
internal audit, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group had been in operation and considered that the Company’s risk
management and internal control system are effective and adequate.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage but not eliminate business risk, to help safeguard the Group's
assets against fraud and other irregularities, and to give reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material financial misstatement or loss.
In addition, it should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and
fair accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules
and regulations.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Group's audit works for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
performed by BDO Limited.

The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit and non-
audit services provided by the abovementioned auditors is set out in
the following:

Nature of work
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Amount (HK$)

Audit services BEIZARTE 1,250,000
Non-audit services IEBIZARTS 54,300

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with Shareholders and management.

Mr. Shek Wing Wa holds a bachelor degree in business administration
and a master degree in corporate governance and is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute since 2010. He has been engaged
in company secretarial work for more than 17 years and has solid
experience in company secretarial field gained from both listed
companies and professional firms in Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles of association, any one
or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the Company’s paid up capital carrying the
right of voting at the Company’s general meetings shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

In the event that any Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the Company’s paid up capital
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company would
like to call for an extraordinary general meeting, please make a written
requisition to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong from
time to time, making attention to “The Board of Directors and the
Company Secretary”.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to put forward proposals
at the general meetings under the Company’s articles of association.
If Shareholders wish to do so, they may request to convene an
extraordinary general meeting as stipulated above and specify the
proposals in such written requisition.

For any enquiries, Shareholders are welcome to contact the Company

by post to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong, by
phone at (852) 2600 7670 or by fax at (852) 3014 6457.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
Communications with Shareholders and investors

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders. A shareholders’ communication policy setting
out the principles of the Company in relation to Shareholders’
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and
timely communication with Shareholders via various means, had been
established and published on the Company’s website. And it will be
reviewed annually after the annual general meeting. The Company's
annual general meetings and other general meetings are valuable
forums for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders
and to answer questions Shareholders may raise. Another key element
of effective communication with Shareholders and investors is the
prompt and timely dissemination of information in relation to the
Group. The Company has announced its 2021 annual results and 2022
interim results in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.

Separate resolutions are proposed by the chairman at general meetings
for each substantial issue. The detailed procedures of conducting
a poll are explained to Shareholders at the commencement of the
general meetings, to ensure that Shareholders are familiar with such
procedures.

The Company’s last annual general meeting ("AGM") was held on
Tuesday, 13 May 2022 at 10:30 a.m. at 17/F, One Pacific Place, 88
Queensway, Hong Kong. Notice of the last AGM was sent out on 8
April 2022, i.e. there were 21 clear business days before the last AGM.
All the resolutions proposed at the last AGM were approved by the
Shareholders by poll. Details of the poll results are available on the
Company's website.

The Chairman of the Board attended the general meeting in the
year 2022 and also invited the chairman of the Audit, Nomination,
Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committees to attend. All
the Directors, attended the general meeting in the year 2022. The
Auditor was also available during the AGM to answer questions from
the Shareholders.
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The next AGM will be probably held at 17/F, One Pacific Place, 88
Queensway, Hong Kong on Friday, 12 May 2023 at 10:30 a.m. (or,
in the event that a black rainstorm warning signal or tropical cyclone
warning signal no. 8 or above is in force in Hong Kong at 9:00 a.m. on
that day, at the same time and place on Monday, 15 May 2023).

The Company's register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 9
May 2023 to Friday, 12 May 2023, both days inclusive, during the
period no transfers of Company’s shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong for
registration by no later than 4:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday,
8 May 2023.

The Company's market capitalisation as at 31 December 2022 was
HK$294,827,050 (issued share capital: 2,033,290,000 Shares at
closing market price: HK$0.145 per Share). The public float was
approximately 26.22% as at 31 December 2022.

Stakeholders of the Company could send emails to
"enquiry@clsapremium.com” for the communication of their views
on various matters related to the Company and the emails would be

replied by specific department of the Company.

All corporate communication materials published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.clsapremium.com) as soon as practicable after their release.
The Company's constitutional documents are also available on both
websites. During the year under review, there is no amendment to the
Company'’s articles of association.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE ¢ +852 2218 8288
{HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CLSA
Premium Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 71 to 188, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B 37 A% BRI S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition from the healthcare products
business

The Group's revenue principally comprises the sales of healthcare
products, which are recognised as revenue when the control of
the goods is transferred to the Group's customers according to the
terms of the sales and purchase agreements, transaction records and
other relevant documents entered into between the Group and its
customers.

Judgement is required to determine whether the Group has the control
of the goods before delivering to the customers, and accordingly,
whether the Group acts as a principal or an agent in such transactions.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the timing and
amount of recognition of revenue by management to meet specific
targets or expectations and significant judgement is involved in
determining whether the Group acts as a principal or an agent in
certain transactions.

As disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the

sales of healthcare products is a key revenue stream for the Group,
which contributed to over 90% of the Group's total income.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Our audit procedures to address revenue recognition included the

following:

engaging our internal information technology specialists to
evaluate the design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls of online sales which govern the
recognition and measurement of revenue;

inspecting the sale and purchase agreements, transaction records
and other relevant documents on a sample basis, for each
major revenue stream, to understand the terms and evaluate
the appropriateness of revenue recognition, measurement and
presentation with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards, in particular whether the Group acted as a
principal or an agent;

comparing, on a sample basis, settlements received from
customers with the relevant details in transaction reports received
by the Group from the processing bank and bank statements;

comparing, on a sample basis, revenue transactions recorded
during the year with the underlying sale and purchase
agreements for offline sales, transaction records and other
relevant documents for online sales for settled balance and
assessing whether the related revenue had been recognised in
accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition policies;

comparing, on a sample basis, specific revenue transactions
recorded before and after the financial year end date with the
underlying sale and purchase agreements for offline sales, the
transaction details captured by the information technology
systems with customers’ acknowledgement of receipt of the
goods sold and other relevant documents for online sales to
determine whether the related revenue had been recognised in
the appropriate financial year; and

performing end-customer interviews to understand the sales
and delivery process, substance of customer contracts and other
relevant information related to revenue recognition.
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Net realisable value of inventories

The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories as at 31 December
2022 was HK$37,795,000.

These inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

In arriving at the carrying amount of the Group's inventories as at
the year end, management estimation on the net realisable value of
inventories is required. We have identified the net realisable value of
inventories as a key audit matter because of the significance of the
carrying amount of inventories; and because applying the Group’s
accounting policies in the net realisable value of inventories involves
significant degree of estimation.

Our audit procedures to address the valuation of inventories included
the following:

e observing the physical inventory count performed on the Group's
inventories as part of the procedures for identifying obsolete or
slow-moving inventories;

e checking the ageing analysis of the Group’s inventories which was
used by management to identify those aged inventories with an
indication of possible write-down of inventories; and

e performing substantive procedures relating to the costs and

net realisable value with reference to the purchase invoices and
subsequent sales records.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
("HKFRSs") issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine WHHEZERBEB 2B > RABEEH B AL
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the HFAMBEREMEeEAETE2F1E > AMBER
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are FRABEIZFIE BRIEEZRBIERARF QR
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our BILEE > IRBERZBERT > HMDBAHE
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure BZEFEA SEBHRACARBRFBHEAR
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we HIBILEE M FMAER RS PINE > T
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report  F{fd & A #% BT R & P #i tE 18 o

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

BDO Limited BRIUGRREAMEZMAERAE
Certified Public Accountants HEEE AT

Chan Wing Fai PR 7k 12

Practising Certificate Number P05443 =B E RN (P05443

Hong Kong, 13 March 2023 EB ) _E_ZF£=H+=H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

nﬁr EJ

EILIETES

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E " "F+_H=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E-= ==&
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HizE FET FET
(Restated)
Cc<E==xl)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FHBIRE 2%
Sales of goods from healthcare business — fREEMEHE RIHE 5 39,129 =
Leveraged foreign exchange and BRI e EL 32 5 WA
other trading income 1,262 2,738
Fee and commission income BB RAE WA - 4
Reversal of provision for expected B OlTREREERIEEE
credit loss 183 131
Other income EMUgA 6 2,467 6,156
Total income WA 4B %8 43,041 9,029
Cost of sales from healthcare business RIBERERBEERK (31,961) =
Referral expenses and other charges EHA Y REMER (2,124) (629)
Staff costs ETIRK 7 (12,135) (18,707)
Depreciation — property, plant and ME—E - BEKRKE
equipment (711) (1,837)
Depreciation — right-of-use assets E—FREEE (1,878) (9,721)
Other operating expenses H = 8 (23,444) (26,818)
Total expenses Bz 4828 (72,253) (57,712)
Operating loss from continuing REREXREL 2 RKERB
operations (29,212) (48,683)
Finance cost EE= YN (209) (288)
Loss before tax from continuing FEREEREL ZRRAIEE
operations (29,421) (48,971)
Income tax expense FrigiRBs 10 (97) =
Loss for the year from continuing SRR EEFEL 2 FERE
operations (29,518) (48,971)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
o oy 2 T A R
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_-_ZE - " F+_"H=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
=== B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 FAET TFAET
(Restated)
(REF)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BARIEREET
Loss for the year from discontinued REBRIKESEZF 2 FERE
operations 9 (1,534) (7,571)
Loss for the year FERE (31,052) (56,542)
Other comprehensive expense Hitt2EMAX
Item that may be reclassified to B SEERT 7 E 1R m 2 HH
profit or loss
Currency translation difference EEEREEE (6,905) (7,757)
Other comprehensive expense FEHMEEMX
for the year, net of tax (0FRIRIA) (6,905) (7,757)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEHEERLEEE (37,957) (64,299)
Loss attributable to: LUTFIEEFE(LESTE -
Continuing operations FHEREER (29,518) (48,971)
Discontinued operations BARIEREER (1,534) (7,571)
(31,052) (56,542)
Total comprehensive loss UTFIEEREEEESISEEE -
attributable to:
Continuing operations FERE TS (31,853) (50,868)
Discontinued operations B IEREER (6,104) (13,431)
(37,957) (64,299)
Loss per share for loss attributable F£EZRATREFE AEGESE HK cents HK cents
to the equity holders of the ZERES1E A A
Company for the year
Continuing operations FEREER (1.45) (2.41)
Discontinued operations BARIEREER (0.08) (0.37)
— Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) —EARKEE (BB 2 (1.53) (2.78)

The Notes on pages 78 to 188 form part of these consolidated f578F 188E MM B ZE LM BRERN—
financial statements. B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR A WS IR L AR

As at 31 December 2022 R _E__F+_H=+—H

2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HizE FHET FEx
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREMEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN Y 13 845 1,656
Intangible assets mILEE 14 - -
Right-of-use assets ERREE 15 = 9,494
Deposit & 18 - 701
Total non-current assets ERSBEEHE 845 11,851
Current assets RHEE
Inventories 78 16 37,795 -
Trade receivables B 5 EWEIE 17 17,991 =
Other receivables, prepayments and H e RIE ~ FE{I A
deposits Ke¥e < 18 6,999 6,527
Tax prepayment TEERIE 4 4
Derivative financial instruments TEERMTA 19 - 4,579
Balances due from agents e IR 4L B 20 4,651 33,963
Cash and bank balances and & MIRTTAE R K
client trust bank balances B REIR1T4E &R 21 216,025 273,692
Total current assets MENEEEE 283,465 318,765
Total assets BEMRE 284,310 330,616
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ExnkaE
Equity i
Share capital [} % 26 20,333 20,333
Reserves i) 26 210,467 248,424
Total equity g 230,800 268,757
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

wr A M B IR R

As at 31 December 2022 R _E__F+_A=+—H

2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HizE FHET FET
Current liabilities Bt R=NE

Lease liabilities HESR 22 - 3,399
Tax payable g 97 =
Trade and other payables B 5% kEMERIE 24 51,486 9,496
Derivative financial instruments TEERMTA 19 12 458
Clients’ balances =R A5ER 25 1,915 42,266
Total current liabilities mENaELEEE 53,510 55,619

Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 - 6,240
Total non-current liabilities ERENBEELELE - 6,240
Total liabilities BEMaEE 53,510 61,859
Total equity and liabilities HESREE 284,310 330,616

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 188 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 13 March 2023 and were

signed on its behalf.

Yuan Feng

RIg

The Notes on pages 78 to 188 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
b DL Lk
an IZI “&%b%%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E " "F+_H=+—HIEFE

Share Currency
Share Share Capital option  translation Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
FERgiE ARER
fea RiEE e 1 1 RithE e

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
if3 TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
(Note 26(a)) (Note 26(b)) (Note 26(b)) (Note 26(b)) (Note 26(b)) (Note 26(b))
#zee)  (Wdzew)  (E2em)  (WEzew)  (WE26L)  (E260)

Balance at 1 January 2021 RIB--&
—B—Bz&8 20,333 180,493 171,892 2,176 (8,636) (33,202) 333,056

Comprehensive expense 2ERZ

Loss for the year EEFR - - - = = (56,542) (56,542)
Other comprehensive expense FEHMZERE
for the year - - - - (7,757) - (7,757)
Total comprehensive expense FELERRAR
during the year - - - - (7,757) (56,542) (64,299)
Share option scheme BRE 2 28 = = = (1,618) = 1618 =

Balance at 31 December 2021 R-Z_—%+_F

and 1 January 2022 S
kR-E-"%-H
—azsﬁ% 20333 180,493 171,892 558 (16,393) (88,126) 268,757
Comprehensive expense 2ERY
Loss for the year FERE - - - - - (31,052) (31,052)
Other comprehensive expense FEEMEZARE
for the year - - - - (6,905) - (6,905)

Total comprehensive expense FEXERRAR
during the year - - - - (6,905) (31,052) (37,957)
Share option scheme EiiEstal 28 - - - (558) - 558 -

Balance at 31 December 2022 H-Z__%+_F
—t+—RZE&H 20,333 180,493 171,892 - (23,298) (118,620) 230,800

The Notes on pages 78 to 188 form part of these consolidated f578FE 188EMM s EMZE LM HBRERN—
financial statements. i)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

e BleiiE R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE " " F+_HA=+—HILEE

2022 2021
g B —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B2t T T
Cash flows from operating REEFHFSRERE
activities
Loss before tax PRI RIES IR
Continuing operations FEREE (29,421) (48,971)
Discontinued operations BARIEKE TR (1,558) (8,941)
(30,979) (57,912)
Adjustments for: FEE
Depreciation — property, plant and E—YE BER&RE
equipment 13 735 1,914
Depreciation — right-of-use assets ME—EREEE 15 1,878 9,721
Interest income A E WA (1,779) (99)
Interest expense MEMXZ 209 288
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE BERKREZ
plant and equipment 518 60 698
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets HESREEE ZFE 7,567 =
Gain on disposal of lease liabilities HEMEaEZ W (7,675) =
Net gain from financial assets BAREST AR
at fair value through profit or loss TRE E W FEE 6 - (159)
Reversal of provision for expected BOITEHAE ER 18R G
credit loss (183) (390)
Overprovision of the FMA penalty SRS EIERIIR
R - (1,266)
Cash flows used in operating activities EEETEEAKEED
before working capital changes FTARERE (30,167) (47,205)
Changes in working capital: SEESEE .
Trade receivables B Z e FIE (17,991) =
Client trust bank balances BE{E5LiR1T4SRR 32,356 21,173
Balances due from agents FEW R IBAE B 27,224 11,659
Derivative financial instruments TEERMTA 3,863 (311)
Other receivables, HE AR WGERIE
prepayments and deposits BRIEBEREE 176 1,316
Inventories 78 (37,795) _
Clients’ balances B S ER (37.462) (23,268)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EHMEATIE 42,981 (2,626)
Cash used in operations KEFTHEIRE (16,815) (39,262)
Income tax refund, net of tax paid FriRiRiR[El > PR ENIRIE 24 =
Net cash used in operating activities KEREPTRR 38R (16,791) (39,262)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

SARERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E " "F+_H=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E_C B —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kzt THET FHET
Cash flows from investing KRETHFRSRERE
activities
Interest received BUF 2 1,779 99
Purchase of property, plant and equipment §& B %% B E K& 13 (3) (860)
Sales proceeds from disposal of financial ~ HERAAEFF AEBTR 2
assets at fair value through profit or loss £ RE E ~ IHEFTE IR - 2,976
Net cash generated from investing activities & & EEPA1SIR & % EH 1,776 2,215
Cash flows from financing REEEAERERE
activities
Repayment of principal portion of BEREaREAEED
lease liabilities 27 (1,911) (9,855)
Interest paid BAHE (209) (288)
Net cash used in financing activities B GREPTRIRE 35 (2,120) (10,143)
Net decrease in cash and cash HERREESEWR LV IFEE
equivalents (17,135) (47,190)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIREEEY
beginning of year 21 234,467 287,093
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, — FEREiF 7 2548
net (5,541) (5,436)
Cash and cash equivalents FXRAERREEZEY
at end of year 21 211,791 234,467
The Notes on pages 78 to 188 form part of these consolidated %8578ZE188E MM I M Z SRS M BIREN—

financial statements.

;D
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

1.1 General information

CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 9 November 2010 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. Its registered office address is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the provision of leveraged foreign exchange and other
trading, cash dealing business, sales of healthcare products
and other services.

The Company's shares are listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 17
November 2022 and 22 November 2022, the Company’s
immediate controlling shareholder has been changed from
CITIC Securities Overseas Investment Company Limited
to CITIC Securities International Limited (“CSI”) (both
incorporated in Hong Kong and their holding company are
CITIC Securities Company Limited which incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China). As at 31 December 2022,
59.03% of the Company's issued shares are held by CSI,
14.75% of the Company’s issued shares are held by KVB
Holdings Limited.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and applicable
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622). In addition, the financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost except for certain financial assets and financial liabilities
(including derivative instruments) measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

o o U 5 R B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs -
effective on or after 1 January 2022

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants to these financial statements for
the current or prior accounting period:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 — Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
(early adopted)

Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to  Amendments to HKFRS

HKFRSs 2018-2020 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS
41

These new or amended HKFRSs that are effective from
1 January 2022 did not have any significant impact on
the Group’s accounting policies.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EEGHBRBE @)

2.1 RREBE (@)
(a) FRAAFGTHAENETE B FEHRE

B -HR-_E-——HF—F—H
ZEEM
AEBMERERH U TR
HZEMBERREBUTESS
S AS RN EAVMBREE
B Z 85T A

ERMBREEN  RASER
FIMZ BT A

BERMBRSEN —T—&
FI6SR BT A NA=TRZE

A iy T
EHEERE
REHM®)
BRGHENSI6R X BERRE !
pACHEN BT RRATZ A
TRE
BBGHENSTS AESH-BHE
PA RS HZEE
BRMBRSEN BHREMBRSEL
“EN\EE B9 BB
T TEFE REZRFHE
o BEMBREE
RIS 16551
BHEALERS
STERIBAY
(HIES

ZEE-_T-_"_F—B—HEXE
MM WEESTEBYHRS
ZRWENKTERZ 5t BERE
FRERAMEATE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 B BERE (&)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 RREE (B

(a) Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs — (a) IRAFTETEASNESTE B 7R E

effective on or after 1 January 2022
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3. Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
“Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to
its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer
to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead
of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
business combinations that occurred on or after 1
January 2022. As there were no contingent assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities within the scope of
the amendments arising in the business combination
that occurred during the year, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs -

effective on or after 1 January 2022
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16: Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, an entity
recognises the proceeds from selling any such items,
and the cost of those items as determined by HKAS
2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has applied
the amendments retrospectively to items of property,
plant and equipment made available for use on or
after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 RREE (B)
(a) FRAAFGTHAENETE B FEHRE

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs -

effective on or after 1 January 2022
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37: Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS
37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs
that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling
the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no
onerous contracts were identified. Therefore, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020:
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender
on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022. As
there was no modification or exchange of the Group’s
financial liabilities during the year, the amendment
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group's current intention is to apply these changes on

the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts">

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 - Comparative
Information®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
2020 Amendments "

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”F

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the
effective date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred
to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
In addlition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17
issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to
extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to
apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option
relating to the classification overlay set out in this
amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS
17

Except for the impact mentioned below, the Group’s

directors anticipate that the application of the other

new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material

impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011), Sale
or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address an inconsistency between
the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011)
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain
or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be
determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 B BERE (&)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 RREE (B

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) BAEME KL ZFTET LA &

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the
seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain
or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in
particular the determination over whether an entity has
a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least
12 months after the reporting period. Classification
of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations
that are considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022,
the HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
In addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional
disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising
from loan arrangements as non-current when it
has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 RREBE (@)
(b) EREfEE KL ZHETEHAZE

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for
these amendments is not necessary. The Group is
currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to
ensure consistency with the amendments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply
to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start
of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A
EEHBEHE (@)

2.1 RREBE (@)
(b) EREfEE KL ZHETEHAZE

FSIEEMBHREER ()

BB 5 BB Z 15T %~
B a5t 2 T 5

ZEBIIARBEE STt EBg
TR EEH 2 BEHNER o it
FARAEAMBIRERPZFENE
EMRBINERE S ZETR
== R CIRCE I =R W
WABERSH GG o ZIERI X
R _E=F—HF—HE &M
AZFERSHBAER THERA
Rz ARR RSt S
ST CREE R st &
ARFER -EHRZEITETE
HAERZMERREETMNE
=

|



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 RREBE (@)
(b) EREfEE KL ZHETEHAZE

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations
at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate
at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be
applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

222 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Segment reporting

24

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent

with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating

decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the

person or group that allocates resources to and assesses the

performance of the operating segments of an entity. The

Group has determined the executive directors and senior

management as its chief operating decision maker.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

(b)

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group

entities (none of which has the currency of a

hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional

currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

assets and liabilities for each consolidated
statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the end of each
reporting period;

income and expenses for each consolidated
statements of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment if
any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Leasehold improvements 10 years or over the lease
term, whichever is shorter

Computer equipment 3 to 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3 to 5 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less
costs to sell and value in use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amounts. These are included in
‘other operating expenses’ in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised over the useful economic lives (3 to 5 years) and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of
each reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful lives of intangible assets with
indefinite lives are reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Leases

The Group as lessee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance
leases) are required to be capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-value.
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which
at the commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be initially recognised at cost
and would comprise:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account
for lease liability);

(i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(i) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2

EGSBRBE (@)

2.7 E

FEEEDZEABA

FMTERE ThRanlEHExmENR
B ARMBRRRESCAERARE
BEENBERR EOERREHI
WREE DJEEANR()BREHEE
MEER/H(NEMEERBEEE
WHEETERC - xEBBEEET
MEBEEBEEEUNRNRBAGEHREER
DRI2EBNEERIERAREE
RMEEG -HZEHEMRBNES
TRERBERREERIEZH-

BHEEEE
ERBREERBEAAR D BB E
EEIN

(i BRFAEHEERENEZHR(RT
XEREERRARN G K
%) ;

(i) M FI%A B #E 2 Al fF R E AR
B4 70R B WE R E ] 1 & 22
B

(i) KEAEENERE REEK
N

(iv) ZFBAEBRERRRIFFRED
BN T DB KR%RBREERF
EERNMES A ZFMETA
EEFEMELRIERS -



2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use asset (continued)

The Group measures the right-of-use asset applying a cost
model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-
of-use asset at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liability. Depreciation of right-of-use asset is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost
over the lease term.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the Group's incremental
borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be lease
payments:

(i) fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable;

(i) variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
commencement date;

(i) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Leases (continued)

Lease liability (continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by:

(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability;

(i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and

(i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any
lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of
a lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it
adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect
the payments to make over the revised term, which are
discounted using a revised discount rate. The carrying
value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when the
variable element of future lease payments dependent on
a rate or index is revised, except the discount rate remains
unchanged. In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is made
to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the
revised carrying amount being amortised over the remaining
(revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Leases (continued)

Lease liability (continued)

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of
a lease with the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one
or more additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price for the additional
rights-of-use obtained, the modification is accounted for as
a separate lease, in all other cases, where the renegotiated
increases the scope of the lease (whether that is an
extension to the lease term, or one or more additional
assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using
the discount rate applicable on the modification date, with
the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount.
With the exception to which the practical expedient for
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions applies (see Note 2.1),
if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of the
lease, both the carrying amount of the lease liability and
right-of-use asset are reduced by the same proportion to
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease with any
difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability
is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount
reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments over
the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments
discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date
and the right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have indefinite useful lives are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.

In testing a cash generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating
unit or group of cash generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash generating unit or group of
cash generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial assets 29 TRIEE
2.9.1 Classification 2.9.1 248

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e  those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through profit or loss or through other
comprehensive income); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

2.92 Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the assets.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

FEBRETMEEIBS/UT

SRR

s HBERAAE ZEBEmW
BEHEME2ENRD) StERN
THEE; K

s REBHMAFENEME
& o

ZOEBURANAEBEEEERE
ENEBERAMRREZRENGLH

AR o

MEAREFENEEMS * K
mREBEREN R EMEE R
myER e

EHEEFEREEZFTEEN
EBEEANER DHEBKRE
ETEMDE

2.9.2 (BB R AL LE B 5T

ETMEENEREENRZER
(EEREAEBRERHESR
EEH) BRe

THEENBEREEWRINIERE
MENENEMNSEELAER
EEELBRMAERN—TIAR
RO & 4% IE R R o

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED .2 "4FE#j;

103



104

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

2.9.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in
profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes
in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” category are included directly in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Certain financial assets are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less impairment if
any. The Group's receivables and deposits, balances due
from agents and bank balances fall under this category.
These financial assets are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Interest on loans is included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and is reported as
net interest income.

2.94 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its financial
assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.100ffsetting financial instruments 2.10iEHER TR

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

2.11Derivative financial instruments

The Group classifies derivatives as financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss at inception.
The Group does not classify any derivatives as hedges in a
hedging relationship.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair values are recognised in the “leveraged
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2.12Cash and cash equivalents 212RERFEEEY

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits
at banks, bank deposits with original maturities of three
months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and cash
equivalents available for the disposition of the Group and
exclude client trust bank balances, and bank deposits held to
secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13Rental, utility and other deposits

Rental, utility and other deposits held on a long term basis
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less impairment if any.

2.14Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the First-In-First-Out method
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
writedown or loss occurs.

2.15Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair
value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.16Financial liabilities 216 EREME

Financial liabilities representing other payables and
clients’” balance are recognised initially at fair value net
of transaction costs incurred. Financial liabilities are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between proceeds net of transaction costs and the
redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over the
period of the other financial liabilities using the effective
interest method. Financial liabilities are derecognised when
they are extinguished — that is, when the obligation is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

2.17Trade payables and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade
and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.18Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the
time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Employee benefits

(a) Retirement benefits scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the
“Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary, which
operates in New Zealand, are eligible to participate
in KiwiSaver plan on a voluntary basis. This subsidiary
is required to contribute certain percentage of its
payroll costs to the fund only if employees are making
contribution to KiwiSaver plan. The contributions are
charged to the profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the fund.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary, which
operates in Australia, are required to participate in
employee superannuation fund. This subsidiary is
required to contribute certain percentage of its payroll
costs to the fund. The contributions are charged to the
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the fund.

The assets of the Scheme and other plans as described
above are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the Scheme and other plans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Employee leave entitlements

(c)

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they are accrued to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of reporting period.

Bonus

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, in which the bonus scheme is at the
discretion of the Group’s directors based on the Group
performance that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Group after certain adjustments.
The Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

2.20Share-based payment transactions

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions

The Group operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
with reference to the fair value estimated by external
valuer under a valuation model commonly used in the
market.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20Share-based payment transactions (continued)

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions (continued)

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account
is taken of any performance conditions, other than
conditions linked to the price of the shares of the
Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the year in which the service conditions are fulfilled,
ending on the date on which the relevant employees
become fully entitled to the award (the “vesting
date”). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting year has expired and the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the profit or loss for a year
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that year.

Upon exercise of share options, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve and the proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs up to the nominal value of the share issued are
reallocated to share capital with any excess being
recorded as share premium.

When the share options are lapsed, forfeited or still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
(accumulated losses)/retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20Share-based payment transactions (continued)

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification, which
increases the total fair value of the share-based
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

(b) Share-based payment transaction among

Group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting periods an
increase to investment in subsidiaries undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Dividend on ordinary shares is recognised as a liability
in the consolidated financial statements in the period in
which it is approved by the shareholders or directors where
appropriate.

2.22Income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period in the countries where
the Group's subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates position
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22Income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23Goods and Services Tax (“GST")

The financial statements have been prepared so that

expenses/costs are stated inclusive of GST, where

appropriate. The Group is not a registered person in term of
the Goods and Services Tax Act 1985 in New Zealand.

2.24Revenue recognition

Revenue of the Group is recognised on the following bases:

(a

Sales of goods from healthcare business, when

the control of the products has transferred to the

customers, which is the point of acceptance by the

customers;

(i)

Right of return

For contracts which provide a customer with
a right to return the goods within a specified
period, the expected value method is used to
estimate the goods that will not be returned
because this method best predicts the amount
of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS 15 on
constraining estimates of variable consideration
are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to
be returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability
is recognised. A right-of-return asset (and the
corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognised for the right to recover products from
a customer.

Leveraged foreign exchange and other trading income,

when the services have been rendered;

fees and commission income, when the services have

been rendered;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.24Revenue recognition (continued) 2248 FERE (48)

(d) management fees income, when the services have
been rendered; and

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

2.25Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).

2.26Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset
is measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to
be returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods
and any potential decreases in the value of the returned
goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset
for any revisions to the expected level of returns and any
additional decreases in the value of the returned goods.

2.27Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable)
from a customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer. The
Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the
corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.28Cash dealing income

Unleveraged cash dealing services are provided to corporate
clients, in particular, those clients engaged in money
changing business for the purpose of hedging their cash
positions and meeting settlement obligations. The Group is
rewarded by the spread between the price quoted to our
clients and the price offered by our market makers. Cash
dealing income is recognised when cash dealing transactions
have been completed by market makers with reference to
prevailing exchange rate.

2.29Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable and are recognised
as other revenue, rather than reducing the related expense.

2.30Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held-for-

sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as
held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets (except for certain
assets as explained below), (or disposal groups), are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group'’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographic
area of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.30Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held-for-
sale and discontinued operations (continued)

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, which comprises the post-tax profit
or loss of the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain
or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less
costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.

On 25 January 2022, the Company announced that the
Group has decided to suspend the operation of CLSA
Premium New Zealand Limited (a subsidiary of the Company
in New Zealand, “CLSAP NZ") and to change it as a
dormant company until there is any further decision to be
made. In June 2022, CLSAP NZ has returned its derivative
issuer licence to the Financial Markets Authority of New
Zealand (the “"FMA").

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is inherent in the financial service business and sound
risk management is a cornerstone of prudent and successful
financial practice. The Group acknowledges that a balance must
be achieved between risks, control and business growth. The
principal financial risks inherent in the Group’s business are credit
risk, market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency
risk) and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
objective is to enhance shareholder value while retaining exposure
within acceptable thresholds in response to changes in markets.
The Group has a robust risk management system in place to
identify, analyse, assess and manage risks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised

below:

3.1 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk from bank
balances, balances due from agents, derivative financial
instruments, trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits. After evaluating the clients’ risk profiles, the
Group sets stop-out levels to the clients. Once their equity
drops to the stop-out level the Group's trading system
will automatically liquidate the client’s positions. Without
taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the
carrying amounts of these assets. The Group monitors the
credit risk exposure of the balances on a regular basis, taking
into account the financial position and past experience. The
Group did not experience any losses from non-performance
by the counterparties. The balances due from agents have

no defaults in the past.

The Group’s bank deposits are held with banks and balances
due from agents are held with major financial institutions.
Management reviews the banks and financial institutions’

creditworthiness on a regular basis.

The Group's trade receivables mainly include receivables
from third-party payment platform receivables. The
management believes the credit risk is limited because the
deposits in transit was held by high-credit-quality financial
institutions. There has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions, the credit risk in such

trade receivables is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEEKER @)
3.1 EE5EK @)
(a) THEERE

3.1 Credit risk (continued)

(a) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial assets that are
subject to HKFRS 9 expected credit loss assessment:

. Cash and bank balances and client trust bank
balances;

e Trade receivables;

e  Balances due from agents; and

e Other receivables and deposits.

The Group measures loss allowances for these financial
assets at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit
losses (“ECL"), which is an estimate of losses that the
Group expects will result from a credit event, such as a
payment default.

To measure the expected credit losses, the Group
determines the expected loss rates based on the credit
default rates of the debtors of these financial assets
with reference to the corresponding credit ratings
from internationally renowned credit rating agencies.
These rates are further adjusted to reflect the possible
changes in the current and forwarding looking
macroeconomic factors which may result in different
default behaviour and credit risks of the debtors.
At each reporting date, the credit default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.

As at 31 December 2022, the 12-month ECL
calculated by the Group is not material and there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Credit risk (continued)
(a) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The movement in the provision for expected credit loss
account in respect of bank balances and client trust
bank balances, balances due from agents and other
receivables and deposits during the year is as follows:

3 BHBERKREE @
3.1 FEER &)

Bank balances

(a) EHEERE (&

Emﬁﬁﬁﬁuﬁ%ﬁhﬁﬁﬁ

R BN IBE R R EMEW
ME&E%ZE%EE%E%@
BEEBUWT !

and client Balances Other
trust bank due from receivables
balances agents  and deposits Total
1T
Consolidated statement of ERURER EHKE  EtEKEE
financial position (extract) FAMBRAR (HHER) {SeEsRITHERR i@ k& #ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TERT
Balance at 1 January 2021 RIZ2Z—F—H—B&H 314 277 4 595
Reversal of provision for expected }%@?ﬁﬁm SEEERE
credit loss (311) (75) (4) (390)
Exchange differences ERERE 3) (1) = (14)
Balance at 31 December 2021and M_E_—F+_"A=+—HkK
1 January 2022 T FE—-F—H#k - 191 - 191
Reversal of provision for expected ~ B[EIFEHR (= B E5iEE 1%
credit loss - (183) - (183)
Exchange differences ERER - (8) = (8)
Balance at 31 December 2022 _$::E+ H=r=0F
i8R = = = =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEEKER @)
3.1 EE5EK @)
(b) 175 R m et BE s Ete A F1HY

3.1 Credit risk (continued)

(b) Maximum exposure to credit risk before

collateral held or other credit enhancements

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in
the event the counterparties fail to perform their
obligations as at the end of reporting period, in
relation to each class of financial assets, is the amounts
of those assets before provision for expected credit
loss as indicated in the consolidated statement of
financial position. These amounts represent the
worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the
Group at 31 December 2022 and 2021, without
taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements attached.

The amounts of receivables and other assets arising

REEEREE

MHF R ARERBRERRBITE
S AAEEMEERRESEE
MEEEENEESEERKRESR
REMBRRARANMTNZEEE
REREEEEEBRINERE.
ZETHERAEERNRZZE
rEZE_—F+"HB=+—HF
HENEERRNEEZBE > A
IR 5T e A 171 PR R 36 18 S AT BY
HIEBRFAIBENR

REEREBBRETELENEK

from the course of business of the Group are as MEREMEETZENT -
follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Trade receivables B 5 WIS 17,991 =
Other receivables and deposits HhEWRIB Mg+ 3,735 4,037
Derivative financial instruments* TTEER T A - 4,579
Balances due from agents FEW R IBAS B 4,651 34,154
Cash and bank balances and client & MIRTTAEER U K
trust bank balances R =R 1TAE R 216,025 273,692
Total gross amounts WEEAET 242,402 316,462

*: Being net amounts of financial assets presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position but before
netting off collateral or other credit enhancement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBRKERE @)
3.1 Credit risk (continued) 3.1 EERKR @)

(c) None of the financial assets is either past due or (c) BimEMBEERIATRME-
impaired.

(d) The following table breaks down the Group's major (d) TRUSBEHASAEENEER
credit exposure at their amounts, as categorised by ERAR IEEEZZZ_FK
geographical region as of 31 December 2022 and 2 —F+Z“H=+—8®
2021. The Group has allocated exposures to regions MIBEEE DB AEBREHY
based on the country of domicile of its counterparties. FHMAEBRR ”@Eﬂl‘ =l
Credit risk exposure by geographical sectors is classified BoEFHBANNEERRLS
according to the location of counterparties after taking KR A R ?ﬁ&ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁf%?
into account the transfer of risk. DEgo
As at 31 December 2022 R-_E__#+”-HB=+—H

Asia Pacific

excluding Europe and
Hong Kong Hong Kong  other regions Total

IRHE EUN &
58  (FEEEH) HithE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TERT TERT
Trade receivables BAEWIE 17,991 - - 17,991
Other receivables and deposits HitEWR IEEZTQ 3,553 182 - 3,735
Balances due from agents PRI IRASER - 34 4,617 4,651

Cash and bank balances and Re RRTREERUR

dlient trust bank balances B R EEHRITAER 190,545 25,479 1 216,025
Total st 212,089 25,695 4,618 242,402
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Credit risk (continued)

3 MBERERE #@
3.1 FEER &)

(d) (continued) (d) (&
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+-"B=+—H
Asia Pacific
excluding Europe and
Hong Kong Hong Kong other regions Total
DAME BN R
54 FEEER) Hini @ ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FAET
Other receivables and deposits EfRBTIERES 3,881 156 - 4,037
Derivative financial instruments EEMIE = 4,579 = 4,579
Balances due from agents e RIERARR = 34,154 = 34,154
Cash and bank balances and dient R&RETEHURE
trust bank balances REEFRITAR 123,808 126,244 23,640 273,692
Total 85t 127,689 165,133 23,640 316,462
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Market risk

3.2.1 Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as the Group

invests all surplus funds in accounts with reputable

counterparties and is susceptible to movements in call

interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from unexpected

changes in interest rates that may result in an adverse

impact on the Group’s current and near future

performance. The Group has not used any interest rate

swaps nor forward interest rate contracts to hedge its

exposure to interest rate risk.

As at 31 December 2022

3

HEREEIE &)
3.2 THIZE
3.2.1 F FE & Bz

ARAEBRMAERFESRE
REERFHFINRALRE
MERMERRBNTE R E
I [ B A R E LB o M R A BRIR B
MENEINKE BERRENE
ERHAEENRR RAMAKRER
EETHEE AEBRLKRF A
ERAMKIEARERANE GO
E A =R R o

W-ZE-_—_&+-H=+—H

Floating Fixed Provision
interest interest  Non-interest  for expected
rate rate bearing credit loss Total
BHEE
FERE EER= e EikE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TR TR TAR
Assets BE
Trade receivables ZE e - - 17,991 - 17,991
Other receivables and deposits EfENFEREE - - 3,735 - 3,735
Balances due from agents el IB A - - 4,651 - 4,651
Cash and bank balances and RERFIHBEUR
client trust bank balances BRESRTAR 17,462 198,563 - - 216,025
Liabilities =4
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE - - 51,486 - 51,486
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIE - - 12 - 12
Clients’ balances BRAER - - 1,915 - 1,915
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBRKERE @)
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 HZEKR #E)
3.2.1 Interest rate risk (continued) 3.2.1 7 EEfE (4
As at 31 December 2021 A _E_—F+_HA=+—H
Floating Fixed Provision
interest interest Non-interest for expected
rate rate bearing credit loss Total
BHEE
HEFIE ERES %8 R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TAT TEx TER TEn
Assets BE
Other receivables and deposits HitEWRFRIEREE - - 4,037 - 4,037
Derivative financial instruments fTE&mIA - - 4,579 = 4,579
Balances due from agents s - - 34,154 (191) 33,963
Cash and bank balances and RERRITESUR
client trust bank balances RF RIS 233,842 38,980 870 - 273,692
Liabilities B
Lease liabilites fEsR - 9,639 - - 9,639
Other payables EfEfTE - = 7475 = 7475
Derivative financial instruments fTE4mMIR - = 458 = 458
Clients' balances B - - 42,266 = 42,266

Based on the simulations performed and with other

variables held constant, should the interest rate

increase/decrease by 1%, the loss after taxation for

the year ended 31 December 2022 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$175,000 (2021:
approximately HK$2,338,000) and the equity would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$175,000
(2021: approximately HK$2,338,000).

1R 45 P 2 17 8O 2 8 K H fth m] &
RERIFAEFE HAERS
S TH1%  AIE_SE-_F
+ZB=1+—BLEHFENKR
BEERIEM R 4175,000
B (ZTET—4 42,338,000
B RERB R EMA
175,000 T (CE_-_—F 1 &
2,338,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Market risk (continued)

3.2.2 Foreign currency risk

Exchange rate fluctuation is the most significant risk
in leveraged foreign exchange trading. The Group
takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in
the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its
financial position and cash flows. The Group is exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to New Zealand
dollars and Australian dollars. The Group will suffer a
loss if it fails to cover a client deal at a better exchange
rate. The Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
by reviewing the open position of the Group and
client trading performance. The risk is measured by the
use of sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.
Specific risk limits are set to measure and monitor
foreign exchange risk. Any excessive foreign exchange
risks are passed on to other financial institutions
through execution of trades with those institutions. The
management sets limits on the level of exposure by
currency and in aggregate for both overnight and intra-
day positions, which are monitored on an intra-day
basis.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency policy to hedge its currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the Group's
foreign operations.

The Group trades in foreign currencies, commodities
and other products through its margin trading
business. In order to protect against their exposures to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and commodity
prices, the Group has entered into a number of
derivative contracts with the Group’s counterparties in
the normal course of business.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

3

FAF5 A

SEIE ()

3.2 HiBER @)
3.2.2 S EE L%

EXIEHERNIIET TR
BBAW R o AEBEN KR
ERERERNEEREZTEHN
FEMAE R ANEEKTU
WA TRt AENEEINE
B mMAEBKRELEEEE
ETEERZ AERZIBL
AEBEBBEEAEENKRFEE
EHARERR G RIFEZINER
B o B B T 4 48 ) R BURR 1 9 AT
RBREREBTENE H A EITE
EoAEEREFERKRSIMU
STEREEZEIEREE - TMEKX
41 BE 3 e BI) 425 48 £ EL <& R Ak 48
ENRGEBREZSHBE B
EBHRERENERE G KRB
FrAENRRKFRERE B
FAEBENEAREANTUER-

TEBFEETBIINEBRA
HEEFEAEBRIINEZBRER -
A& B A0 HE IS BUR
DS HRAREEBIINEFEETF
BEENEBRAR-

FEEZEBEREES R B EHE
TN - BekEMERRKS
HREAERAREXRLRBRE
BEBZRETE AEBNE
FEBRRETRAZZHFEIIL
ZIEMEEMN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBRKERE @)
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 miFEKE @)
3.22 Foreign currency risk (continued) 32250 E R Bz (B)
The tables below summarise the Group's exposure to TR|AAXEBRZZFR
foreign currency exchange rate risk as at 31 December —E_—H+"HA=+—HAR
2022 and 2021. Included in the tables are the assets HINERPE e TRMAUBTE
and liabilities at carrying amounts in HK$ equivalent, MEREEY R IZREEE SHEN
categorised by the original currency. BEEREGR-
As at 31 December 2022 R_E__&+”-A=+—8H
Provision
for
expected
credit
HKS NZD AUD uss JPY RMB Others loss Total
ElRE
T HEER o e HE AEE Ht Bk ot

HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Fin Fin Fin Fin Fin Tin F#n T#n Fin

Assets BE
Trade receivables BaRNEE 8,115 - - - - 9,876 - - 17,991
Other receivables and deposits ~ EfEMEIAR %S 46 "7 8 970 - 2,5% - - 3,735
Balances due from agents RURELSE - - - 4,651 - - - - 4,651
Cash and bank balances and RERBTRENR

client trust bank balances RRETRTLE 1113 100 8,891 190,976 5 8328 12 - 216,025
Liahilities af
Trade and other pajables ERREME S 46,878 698 135 29 - 30 (184) - 51,486
Dervative financial instruments ~— frE£BTA - - - 12 - - - - 2
Clients' balances RREH 535 5 3 998 - - - - 1915
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

3

3.2 Market risk (continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3

MBREERE (&
3.2 HiZEKE (&

3.2.2 Foreign currency risk (continued) 322 5¢E R B ()
As at 31 December 2021 A _E_—F+_HBA=+—H
Provision
for
expected
credit
HKS NID AUD Us$ Y RVB Others loss Total
BHRE
AT HEET A7 e BE P\ At BEARE ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i Fhn Fhn TEn i i Fhn Tin i
Assets EE
Other receivables and deposits L ftIETER %% 3881 19 137 = = = = = 4037
Derivative financial instruments ~~ FTE£BTA - m 2985 1371 - - - - 4579
Balances due from agents RURELEE 154 i 56 33473 280 = 70 (191) 33,963
Cash and bank balances and R RFTHESAR
client trust bank balances RRETRTLE 4306 27,266 25,181 203,852 1,125 10493 1469 - 273,69
Liahilities af
Lease liabilties HE&R 8374 - 1,265 - - - - - 9,639
Other payables EEfFE 365 83 2030 955 - - - - 7475
Derivative financial instruments {4 £BIA - 3 ” 434 - - = - 458
Clients" balances RELGH 315 1,108 18,045 257 21 - - - 42,266
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Market risk (continued)

3.2.2 Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table indicates the impact of
management’s reasonable expectation on the
movement in foreign exchange rate on the Group’s loss

o o U 5 R B

3 MBRAREE @
3.2 MIBEK &)

322 5MERBE (&

TRIITEEBNSEARYE
T TERIEC—F+TH
=+ —HEEBRREERRE

after taxation and on equity as at 31 December 2022 T B9 9N BE BE FROF By 2 £
and 2021:
Movement Movement
in foreign in foreign
currency 2022 currency 2021
Foreign currency risk SEERBR SNERE St SMEE KB ZZ--F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET
AUD BT +-5% 358 +-5% 350
JPY H +-5% - +-5% 59
NZD HEET +-5% 24 +-5% 1,284
RMB AR +-5% 886 +-5% 525

3.3 Liquidity risk

The Group's operations are subject to various statutory
liquidity requirements as prescribed by the relevant
authorities. The Group has put in place a monitoring system
to ensure that it maintains adequate liquid capital to fund
its business commitments and to comply with the regulatory
requirements. The liquidity risk of the Group is managed
by regularly monitoring current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and current working capital to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The Group
holds sufficient cash and deposits on demand to repay its
liabilities.

3.3 REEEE

AEBNEBZABAREREENSE
EERBETEKRFR -AEEEE
UEERG BRERTHANARBE
ERAEENEBRERHEEESRE
SERER - AEEBBEREER
AIREASEEEREERL RGN
R R bR A B B MR E SRV IR & R
ﬁ&@mgLﬁﬁuﬁEHL%&ﬁ
HRSHEEER -AEEARFARTEDN
ﬁ%&é%@m%%ﬁ%@o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

3.3.1 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual
maturities

The table below presents the cash flows payable by
the Group under financial liabilities by remaining
contractual maturities as at 31 December 2022 and
2021. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

As at 31 December 2022

3 MBEAKRER B
3.3 MEMEARR ()
3N BEHEAB T HIREEREE

HE
TREWNEAEER T - _FK

2 —F+"“A=+—H®KE
TERNIHPRE SN ERME
BETHENRERE &R
RENEESSHRBFERESR

=
=o°

R-ZE__+”-A=+—H

Total Carrying

Up to 13 312 1-5 Over  contractual  amount of
1 month months months years 5years  cash flows liabilities
RARERE
—-f@RR  —-E=fAR Z=E+ZfiR -E1f BRE 2w  afREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEwT TFET TER FERT FET TERT FEwT
Liabilities &ff
Trade and other payables BRREMERNTE 51,486 - - - - 51,486 51,486
Clients’ balances BREER 1,915 - - - - 1,915 1,915
53,401 - - - - 53,401 53,401
Derivative financial instruments frE&mMIA 12 - - - - 12 12
53,413 - - - - 53,413 53,413

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

3.3.1 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual

maturities (continued)

As at 31 December 2021

Ao B WA 5 R A B

MBREERE (&
3.3 MEMEARR ()
3N BEHEAB T HIREEREE

= e
TE ()

R-B-—f£+=H=+—8

Total Carrying
Upto 13 3-12 15 Over contractual amount of
1 month months months years 5 years cash flows liabilities
BRRETE

—MEAR -2 ZE+ZfA —ERf AR o SEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEL TER TEx THL TEx FE

Liabilities aff
Lease liabilities HEsE 326 652 2818 6,678 = 10,474 9,639
Other payables HitENFE 7,475 - - - - 7475 7,475
Clients’ balances ZR4&ER 42,266 - - - - 42,266 42,266
50,067 652 2,818 6,678 - 60,215 59,380
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIR 458 - - - - 458 458
50,525 652 2,818 6,678 - 60,673 59,838
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEEKER @)
34 SRHEEREBBENARE

M1 BRAAENENZH TR

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

3.4.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table represents the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
end of reporting period across the three levels of
the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each
financial instrument categorised in its entirety based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair
value measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets.

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted price in
active markets for similar financial instruments, or using
valuation technigues in which all significant inputs are
directly or indirectly based on observable market data.

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input is
not based on observable market data.

As at 31 December 2022

TREINRBSHARREREY
BREEFIREMIAE K
BIMAENAAREERN=
FRPHRAAEHENEM IR
WREE SBEMITAEANLR
BEREBEHZANEFEBEAN
RESHhBHETERERE -7
RERERLT :

1R (REEFER  EREEE
THEPHRE CREHER) StEQ
18 °

Bk ERAERTHEMNE
MITAENRE NEAGERN
(HPFMEEZ2HTEEXR
BB AT RE TS BE) 5t
BRRE-

F3Mk (REFH) - EAGER
i (AR ERNEZ2HHITRIR
REBRTHEHE) StEQ R
(=

RZE-—_#+-H=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
L $24R 34 amst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TER TER
Liabilities &
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIA - 12 - 12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

3.4.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value
(continued)

As at 31 December 2021

o o U 5 R B

3 MBERERE #@
34 TRMEEREBNARE B

N BEAREHENEZHBTR (&

K_E_—HF+”"-HA=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EAE 2R B3R &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FTAT TART FAET
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIE = 4,579 = 4,579
Liabilities &
Derivative financial instruments TESHMTIR = 458 = 458

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument
is included in level 2.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments in level
2 are measured by reference to counterparties’ quotes.

MR ERHTHEEEZESMT
B HARBERBHERMNE
E-EMERMEOERAE
SHAHERMGHE LR
TERBABFEME - HRA R
BFftE—EBEIAMBNENEE
SHHURERERS AIZEITAR
W AB24K

BMTEETHMIAEZAREE
BEHRHFHZRESE-
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

3.4.2 Financial assets and liabilities not measured

at fair value

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair
value of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities not measured at fair value are not
materially different from their carrying amounts
due to their short maturities.

Balances due from agents, other receivables and
deposits include the contractual amounts for
settlement of trades and other obligations due to the
Group.

Clients" balances represent the margin deposits
received from clients and the unrealised profit or
loss from their trading activities under normal course
of business. Their carrying values are a reasonable
approximation of fair value.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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SEIE ()

34 TRMEEREBNARE &

342 WHBAA B BN ZHEER

=F/]

RIE - —ERE_—F+=
B=+—H BRAEEN IR
AAEFENSHREERAERN
AR E MEAABERER
BEETEEAER.
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BEEAFIRER M A -
SREHERAHAAESERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)
34.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities
(@) Financial assets
The following financial assets are subject
to offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar agreements.
As at 31 December 2022
Gross
amounts of
recognised
financial
liabilities set
Gross off in the
amounts of consolidated
recoghised statement
financial  of financial
assets position
RiEaHE
HRRAIEH
ERIER  BRIER
BERE LG
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR

o o U 5 R B

MHBREER (@)
34 TRMEEREBNARE &

M3 HHETHEERETHMER

(a)

EHEE

UTEMEESIKRE 7R
HRITH—FEEEZIE R
BLURZRIR

RIE-—F+-B=+—
H

Related amounts
not set off in
the consolidated statement
of financial position

BRBEGEMERRR
pigicliopii SR
Net amounts
of financial
assets
presented
in the
consolidated
statement Cash
of financial Financial collateral Net
position  instruments received amount
SaME
HRERA
E:) El
EHEESE EHMIE  RiERE #8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR

Derivative financial instruments 74 €8T & -

Total it -

7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HWHBERAKREIRE (&)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 34 SRIBERBENARE @)
(continued)
34.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial 3B HEHEERETHER (B
liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued) (a) ZTHEE (1)
As at 31 December 2021 W_E2_—F+"_HA=+—H

Related amounts
not set off in
the consolidated statement
of financial position

WRRREHERRE
EHRERE
Gross
amounts of Net amounts
recognised of financial
financial assets
liabilities set presented
Gross off in the in the
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement statement Cash
financial of finandial of finandial Finanial collateral Net
assets position position instruments received amount
REREI% Ral®
R A KRN
[l Y 2518 Bl
BEGS BEAE SREETH tHIE  ReERm 28
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR

Derivative financial instruments  $7£ 48T & 5013 (434) 4579 = = 4579

Total it 5013 (434) 4579 - = 4579
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBERMBEE #E)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 34 ERHEEREBHNARAE &
(continued)
34.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial 3BT HEERETHER (B
liabilities (continued)
(b)  Financial liabilities b) =HEE
The following financial liabilities are subject MUTEmaE=zEHE 1"
to offsetting, enforceable master netting HIMITH—FREE TR
arrangements and similar agreements. B ZE R
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZHA=+—
H
Related amounts
not set off in
the consolidated statement
of financial position
BRREEMBRRE
pigicliopii SR
Gross
amounts of Net amounts
recognised  of financial
financial liabilities
assets set presented
Gross off in the in the
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recoghised statement  statement Cash
financial  of financial  of financial Financial collateral Net
liabilities position position instruments pledged amount
RirEHE SaME
kAR AT RRRA
S e BRIEH FRE258 B
BREE BEAE SRARTHE SEMIA RERAR b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Derivative financial instruments 74 €8T & (12) - (12) - - (12)
Total st (12) - (12) - - (12)

7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HWHBERAKREIRE (&)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 34 SRIBERBENARE @)
(continued)
34.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial 3BT HEERETHER (B
liabilities (continued)
(b)  Financial liabilities (continued) (b) =HEE &
As at 31 December 2021 W_E2_—F+"_HA=+—H

Related amounts
not set off in
the consolidated statement
of financial position

WRRREHERRE
EHRERE
Gross
amounts of Net amounts
recognised of financial
financial liabilities
assets set presented
Gross off in the in the
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement statement Cash
financial of finandial of finandial Finanial collateral Net
liabilities position position instruments pledged amount
REREI% Ral®
R A KRN
[l Y 2518 BIEH
BRER BEAR SRAETH tHIE  ReERm 28
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR

Derivative financial instruments  $7£ 48T & (892) 434 (458) = = (458)

Total st (892) 434 (458) = - (458)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

34.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities (continued)

(b)  Financial liabilities (continued)

For the financial assets and liabilities subject to
enforceable master netting arrangements or
similar arrangements above, each agreement
between the Group and the counterparty allows
for net settlement of the relevant financial assets
and liabilities when both elect to settle on a net
basis. In the absence of such an election, financial
assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross
basis, however, each party to the master netting
agreement or similar agreement will have the
option to settle all such amounts on a net basis
in the event of default of the other party. Per the
terms of each agreement, an event of default
includes failure by a party to make payment when
due; failure by a party to perform any obligation
required by the agreement (other than payment)
if such failure is not remedied within 30 days after
notice of such failure is given to the party; or
bankruptcy.

3.5 Financial instruments by category

All financial assets and financial liabilities (including cash and
bank balances, client trust bank balances, balances due from
agents, other receivables and deposits, trade receivables,
clients” balances and trade and other payables) and lease
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method except for the derivative financial instruments which
are carried at fair value.

3

o o U 5 R B

MHBREER (@)
34 TRMEEREBNARE &

M3 HHETHEERETHME R (H

(b) THER (&

Rt 52 BT SR AT A — 0P
REHE R EULHRR
WEMEEREBRERMS > &
EERXSHFRINSE
WMEREE L EFERFEERE
mEE A FRGEEER
TMEERBR -ERAF
HZBEZENBER T EHME
EREERGHBREREL
B -B-BEfR—FEBHEN
BOUHENER—HEN
FR—HEEREFRFER
BEGEMAERTRE IR
BEEBZNRER BOF
B — 7 REEX AT BB
B ER—ARERITHZ
FRREREE ((FRERSN) -
Bz aWEIENER
EB30KRHAMR AR BEFH
RGBT 5 AR E

3.5 HEHBSHEMIA

FREMBRREANZEEMEER
THEE (BRRERBITESH B
REFRRTER BRAEESR H
W IERZ T B 5 BIERRIE
BEREGRRE S REMENRIE X
RIBE S ER B HERANE R R
ARCIEUARBEARNITEESZRT
BRI o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.6 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital, which is
a broader concept than the “equity” on the consolidated

statement of financial position, are:

e To comply with the liquid capital requirements under
the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong,
Australian Securities and Investments Commission
in Australia and the Securities Commission in New
Zealand for its subsidiaries which are licensed

corporations;

e To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

e To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

e To maintain a strong capital base to support the

development of its business.

The Group’s gearing ratio at the end of reporting period is

shown below:

3

MBREKRERE (&)
3.6 EXERE

FEHEEER BSBRETHYHNR
MERNMED I ERER) WERS !

s WMEBFRZIBENWEBARMES
MEEBRFARMEEHERES
BE RMNARNESEHREE
BZEgRTARNESTEZETHN
MBEERE S

e MEXEBENFEEZES X
ESRRREMA mAEREE R
CEIEYS S

s XFKAKEENREREES K

s MEREMNEBEXER UXFH
EBERE-

AEBRREIPRVERLERLT

Total debt B4
Total equity Rtk
Gearing ratio =K

2022 2021
T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

= 9,639
230,800 268,757
N/A RER 3.6%

Total debt includes lease liabilities.

All licensed corporations within the Group complied with
their required liquid capital during the years ended 31

December 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below:

4.1 Fair value of share options

The Group determines the fair value of share options at the
date at which they are granted. The assumptions used in
computing the fair value of the share options are subject
to managements’ best estimation. Changes in assumptions
about these assumptions could affect reported fair value of
share options. Management use their judgments to make
assumptions that are mainly reference to the historical data
of comparable listed companies.

More details of the assumptions made are included in Note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

4.2 Impairment provision for inventories

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories
involves significant management judgment based on the
consideration of key factors such as aging profile, estimated
future selling prices and selling expenses of the respective
inventories. Management reassesses these estimations of
impairment provision for inventories at the end of each
reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.3

4.4

Revenue from contracts with customers-principal
versus agent consideration

The Group applies judgements to determine its role as
goods providers to sell healthcare related products to
the customers. The Group has controlled the healthcare
related products prior to transfer to customers. Therefore,
the Group concluded it is a principal in the transactions.
Consequently, the Group recorded revenue on a gross basis.

Disposal groups reclassified as discontinued
operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business. When an
operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, which comprises the post-tax profit or loss of
the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or loss
recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to
sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal groups
constituting the discontinued operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the executive directors and senior
management of the Group. The Group's operating businesses
are structured and managed separately according to the natures
of their operations and the services they provide. Each of the
Group’s business segments represents a strategic business unit
that offers services which are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of the other business segments. The Board of
Directors considers the business from a geographical and service/
product perspective.

During the year, the Group has ceased its margin dealing business
in New Zealand and returned its derivatives issuer licence to the
FMA. In accordance with HKFRS 5, the segments of New Zealand
business for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 were
presented as discontinued operations in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Summary details of the business segments from geographical and
service/product perspective are as follows:

(@) the healthcare products segment engages in the sales of
healthcare products;

(b) the margin dealing segment engages in the provision of
leveraged foreign exchange, commodity and index trading
services in Australia, Hong Kong and New Zealand; and

(©) unallocated segment engages in the provision of services
other than margin dealing and healthcare products business,
and the operations of the investment holding companies.

As mentioned above, the operating results from the margin
dealing businesses in Australia and Hong Kong are combined and
presented as the margin dealing segment. As such, the segment
information for the year ended 31 December 2021 has been
restated accordingly.

The Group has commenced the healthcare products business
and established an online store through internationally renowned
online sale platform during the year. The Group sells the
healthcare products sourced from its suppliers to end-customers
and wholesale customers. The healthcare products business was
organically grown and not as result of a business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Inter-segment transactions, if any, are conducted with reference
to the prices charged to third parties and there was no change in
the basis during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The segment information provided to the management for the
reportable segments for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

SEERE (@)
DEENRS WH) B2 REE =75 KE
NERET AREERB&E_T_—
B —F+_A=+—HLEFELE

e o
BE_E__FrR-_EBE_—F+°AH
=+t—HLEFE MAUREDHBAEERE
RENDIBERAT !
BE_E__F+_A=+—HLEE

Discontinued

Continuing operations operations
RRCELE BAILTEER
Healthcare Margin Margin
products dealing Unallocated dealing Total
REER REERH FAE REERA Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn ThEn Ti#n T#n TiEn
Segment revenue and other income: AR REMMA
Segment revenue from external customers REIMNDE R B Bz 39,129 1,262 - 30 40,421
Reversal of provision for expected credit loss ROBBEERREE - 183 - - 183
Other (loss)income At (54) /A (170) 2,391 26 2,965 5,432
Total revenue and other income Gy &Nl N 38,959 3,836 246 2,995 46,036
Segment loss AEE (1,619) (18,450) (9,352) (1,558) (30,979)
Income tax (expense)/credit FriSi (B%) /% (10) (87) - 24 (73)
Loss for the year FEBR (1,629) (18,537) (9,352) (1,534) (31,052)
Other segment information: HitpEEr
Depreciation & - 1,698 891 24 2,613
Lease payments A& - 993 575 190 1,758
Finance cost E=ES - 74 135 - 209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5 9IS #BE)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Restated) BEE _ ¥ _—F+_-_B=+—HL=EE

(& =7)
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
FRSEEE BRIHTEER
Healthcare Margin Margin
products dealing Unallocated dealing Total
REER RELRS FOE RELR7 gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn THR TER TR TER
Segment revenue and other income: DEREREMMA
Segment revenue from external customers RENDE RN Bz - 2,742 - 38 2,780
Reversal of provision for expected credit loss RORBEERREE - 36 95 259 390
Other income HA - 3,356 2,800 2,439 8,595
Total revenue and other income Was R A\ 4228 - 6,134 2,895 2,736 11,765
Segment loss PHEE = (26,472) (22,499) (8.941) (57,912)
Income tax credit FiisRns: - - = 1,370 1,370
Loss for the year FEFS - (26,472) (22,499 (7,571) (56,542)
Other segment information: HitipEhEs
Depreciation ik - 2,558 9,000 77 11,635
Lease payments HETH - m Iy) 314 1,128
Finance cost RMERE - 95 193 = 288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group's major
income from external customers is derived from its operations in

DEBERS ()

ARBHEREBE - SEBEXRBIIMBELH
FERARBREBNEEER-

Hong Kong.
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAEIT
Continuing operations R & =7
Hong Kong 58 41,141 (72)
Australia B (750) 2,814
40,391 2,742
Discontinued operations BARIEREER
New Zealand PR 30 38
40,421 2,780
The locations of its non-current assets are as follows: HIFERHEESHUWT :
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Continuing operations RS ERs
Hong Kong E5E 740 10,314
Australia BN 87 1,465
827 11,779
Discontinued operations BARIERESER
New Zealand PR 18 72
845 11,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
Major customer

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the following external

o o U 5 R B

DEBERS ()
FBEEFR
BE_T__HF+t_RB=t+—HLFE"

customer contributed more than 10% of the total revenue of the UPHERERMAER R EAREEA
Group. 10% °

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Customer A ZHA 8,333  N/A*TFEMA*

The corresponding customer did not contribute more than 10% HEERREBEE_Z - —F+"A=+—

of the total revenue of the Group during the year ended 31 HEFEITERSMAEER K GTREBR
December 2021. 10% ©

Information on segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed
as this information is not presented to the Board of Directors as
they do not assess performance of reportable segments using
information on assets and liabilities.

HREESTEEREREERERNE
B E R RSN MHRR  WEBAHHE
ERGEENENEERZRTFTESFTS  EM
WHENBERBREN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HfthitA
Other income of continuing operations: FEBREEXEBEEZHMIA !
2022 2021
—EC TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
(Restated)
(BRE5)
Interest income M EWA 1,765 99
Management fee income BIREWA - 2,700
Government subsidies (note) BTt B (B752) - 264
Net gain from financial assets BARET ABm 2B/
at fair value through profit or loss BEZ W@ - 159
Net foreign exchange gain PE U358 514 2,412
Others HAth 188 522
2,467 6,156
note: Biat -
Included in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 was HE_ZE_—F+"HB=t+—HIEEWNERZH
HK$264,000 of government subsidies obtained from JobKeeper Scheme B35 2R BRI B AT #E V) obKeeperst & (T5z 5t
(the “Scheme”) launched by the Australia Government to support the 2)) BT RL264,0008 7T U FAERRE
payroll of the Group's employees. Under the Scheme, the Group had to B o RIEZ T ANEBMBERBRIEEHR
commit to spend these grants on payroll expenses for a specified period AR ZERDESRARFEAZ AEBE W ESALL
of time. The Group does not have other unfulfilled obligations relating to sHEERNEMEREITE -
this program.
STAFF COSTS 7 BIMZAE
2022 2021
) B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TET
(Restated)
(BREF)
Staff costs of continuing operations HERSEBEEZBTHA
(including directors’ remuneration (BIEESEME #a230)) -
(Note 30)):
Salaries, bonus and allowances TETEAT KRS 11,611 17,828
Pension scheme contributions BB ETEIHR 524 879
12,135 18,707
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

8 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 8 HfthiTEM%
Other operating expenses of continuing operations: FELEXRELS 2 HMKEHRZ @
2022 2021
—E_C BT —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(BRE5)
Other office occupation expenses Hith= FIE8HMAR% 484 1,887
Auditors’ remuneration TZEREMEN &
— Audit services —EIZARTE 1,793 1,905
— Non-audit services — B LIRS 54 36
Information services expenses BHRFEHAX 741 964
Professional and consultancy fee BEREAE 4,485 10,009
Repair and maintenance (including system — #E{E R #isE (BIE R AR AEE
maintenance) 3,093 6,097
Marketing, advertising and promotion MHEE-EEREERS
expenses 4,698 315
Travelling expenses =EikE 174 197
Entertainment expenses R IR FERNE 4 28
Insurance 1R 3,133 2,531
Bank charges RITER 264 91
Staff training BT iE 29 56
Lease payments under land and building THIRIEF Z B 1,568 814
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BEREREZ
plant and equipment 518 35 602
Others Hih 2,889 1,286
23,444 26,818
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group ceased
its margin dealing business in New Zealand due to future
uncertainties in this business. In June 2022, the Group has

9 BHRIKE
REBEE_ZE__F#+_BA=+—HILHF
E ARRFAENRESRZERNE
RAEEM  AEBEBRIEZERK RN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

£

returned its derivatives issuer licence to the FMA. The analysis of T FANAAEEEBETEERS

the results of discontinued operations is as follows:

TABRBRRETFTEMTHEEER BERL

REEBENEBIMWT -
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Leverage foreign exchange and AR TUIMNE e EL 32 5 A
other trading income 8 (21)
Fee and commission income &R REEWA 22 59
Reversal of provision for expected credit loss #$[EIFEHA{E EE51E8 - 259
Other income EHAW A 2,965 2,439
Total income WA 4858 2,995 2,736
Referral expenses and other charges BN REMER (254) (481)
Staff costs BT (1,834) (5,998)
Depreciation — property, plant and ME—*E -BERRE
equipment (24) (77)
Other operating expenses Hh &S [t (2,441) (5,121)
Total expenses B sz 48 %5 (4,553) (11,677)
Operating loss from discontinued BRI EERES 2 K ER1E
operations (1,558) (8,941)
Finance cost =N - =
Loss before tax from discontinued BRI EEREL 2 FRNAIEE
operations (1,558) (8,941)
Income tax FTiS#a 24 1,370
Loss for the year from discontinued ERIEREEHBEE
operations FEEFIE (1,534) (7,571)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 9 BRILKEEEE )

Net cash flows from discontinued operations are as follows:

ERIEEEXFM/EEMNEFRUT !

2022 2021
-z BT —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Operating cash inflows/(outflows) KEIRERA (R 8,055 (20,389)
Investing cash inflows KEREMA - 68
Financing cash outflows MEIRS R (49,901) =
Total cash outflows &M 4EEE (41,846) (20,321)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10 FRiGIMAX
Hong Kong profits tax on continuing operations has been FBREEXEGELE 2B BNERTZE
provided at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated AT R G FILL16.5% (Z &2~ —
assessable profit during the years. Taxation on overseas profits F116.5%) NI KGR EE o BN E A
has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit during NRIEE R FRESTRERR &F U R E
the years at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in REMTEERBIONREGFE - BEEH
which the Group operates. The income tax expenses of the Group ML NE BN AR 28 % K i ¥
are charged at a tax rate of 28% in New Zealand and 30% in 30% (& - —F R FAEZ28%; il
Australia (2021: 28% in New Zealand; 30% in Australia and 25% NIZ30% B A IZ25% ) BIFR X5t
in Mainland China) in accordance with the local tax law. BREMREX -
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(Restated)
Ges=zpl)
Current tax: BUARFRIA .
Hong Kong income tax RIS 97 =
Income tax expense PSRz 97 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

10 FRFMHAX (@)

2022 2021
T T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
(Restated)
(fRE5)
Loss before income tax from FERESEREE

continuing operations BRPIISTR ARS8 (29,421) (48,971)
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate BEBETHRETENRIE (4,854) (8,080)

Effect of different taxation rates in other HBERTRRENTE
countries (1,520) 843
Income not subject to tax AR (421) (80)
Expenses not deductible for tax TAINMRASZ 2,174 513
Temporary differences not recognised R GREERR 4,718 6,304
Income tax expense PRSI B 97 -

11 DIVIDENDS 11 RBE
The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of any EEEfEBARNEBE S+
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). B=+—HLEFENEAKRE (ZTTZ—
F )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to the equity holders of the Company is based on the following

o o U 5 R B

12 S

ARBREFAEANBLGERERREEES
BB NIBESE

data:
2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(Restated)
(fRE5)
Loss from continuing operations RHEREXEBEE 2B (29,518) (48,971)
Loss from discontinued operations BRIEKEEFEE 2 BB (1,534) (7,571)
Loss attributable to equity holders RATRERFE AELEE
of the Company (31,052) (56,542)

No. of shares No. of shares

& & E (e eE]

Weighted average number of ordinary BETEBRNINETSH
shares in issue 2,033,290,000 2,033,290,000
2022 2021
—E-= T4
(Restated)
(Geg=zel))

Basic and diluted losses per share (HK cents) %P8 E 7 K # 8 k548 GB(L)
Continuing operations FBREER (1.45) (2.41)
Discontinued operations BARIEREER (0.08) (0.37)

Total basic and diluted losses per share SRERN R EE1BREE

(HK cents) GBAL) (1.53) (2.78)

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, basic loss per
share is the same as diluted loss per share.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021. The Company's outstanding share
options have no dilution effect for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 because the exercise price of the Company's
share options were higher than the average market price of the
share for the years.

BE_T__HFRFT—F+RB=+—
HIEFE ShkEXEREASREEEERN
G

HE_S__SR_F_—F+_A=+—
B IHE AR E AR ST - AASH
BB _GR_F_—F+_A=1+—H
LE BT 2 ST GRS S IR
R4 ASDMBRNT EEEN LS EEN
Bfh T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13 ME - -BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and Computer Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment improvements vehicles Total
RE-
RERSMH BliRfk fHE%E jat: ®it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TER TR Thn
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_-F+_RA=1+-HLEE
Opening net camying amount FREFE 28 2,165 503 535 3431
Exchange adjustments EREE (6) (6) (11) = (23)
Additions HE 256 223 381 - 860
Disposals HE 3) (655) = - (698)
Depreciation hE (129) (837) (547) (401) (1914)
Closing net carrying amount FRRATE 306 890 326 134 1,656
As at 31 December 2021 RZF_—#+"RA=t-H
Cost A 3,090 3924 6,582 2,005 15,601
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  EsHTERA(E (2,784) (3,034) (6,256) (1.871) (13,945)
Net camying amount RESE 306 890 326 134 1,656
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE S _H+-PB=1-HILEE
Opening net camying amount EREFE 306 890 326 134 1,656
Exchange adjustments ERHEZ (5) (12) @ = (19)
Additions hE - 3 - - 3
Disposals HE (33) - (27) - (60)
Depreciation hE (96) (372) (133) (134) (735)
Closing net carrying amount FREATE 1m 509 164 - 845
As at 31 December 2022 RIE_ZFE+°A=+-AH
Cost A& 274 1,514 346 2,005 4,139
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  EsHTERA(E (102) (1,005) (182) (2,005) (3.294)
Net carrying amount REFE 1m 509 164 - 845
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had written off
computer software and trading right with cost amounts of approximately
HK$78,955,000 and HK$1,836,000, respectively. The accumulated
amortisation and impairment of these assets with same amounts of the

cost had been written off accordingly.

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14 BEEE
Computer Trading
software right Total
BElEm G R 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THAT TAT
For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HE_Z_—F+"A=+—HIEE
Opening net carrying amount FHRERE = = -
Written off (note) s (1) = = -
Closing net carrying amount FRE@FE - = =
As at 31 December 2021 R_E2_—F+-A=+—H
Cost B 1,384 - 1,384
Accumulated amortisation and R RORE
impairment (1,384) = (1,384)
Net carrying amount REFME = = =
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_"HF+"F=+—HIEE
Opening net carrying amount FHRERE = = =
Written off (note) s (1) = = =
Closing net carrying amount FRE@FE - - -
As at 31 December 2022 RIB2ZZHF+ZRA=+—H
Cost (D& - - =
Accumulated amortisation and R RORE
impairment = = -
Net carrying amount REFE - - -
note: Biat -

BE_ZT_—F+"_HB=+t—HLFE &
H EMEE A = 88 ) 5 %943 78,955,00078 7T &
1,836,00049 B8 B 8 14 K2 22 5 1 o B4R &3 3 Bl AR
THERNZSEEN RSB R ITEETH
§H o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15 FREEE
(i) Amount recognised in the consolidated (i) NESHBERARERZEEE
statement of financial position
2022 2021
—s-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Buildings 1EF - 9,494
Lease liabilities HEAaRF
Current e - 3,399
Non-current JETRED - 6,240
- 9,639

There is no addition to the right-of-use assets in 2022.
Additions to the right-of-use assets in 2021 were
HK$8,891,000.

R _FUERNZERES
ER_E_—FRMZERAREE

78,891,000 7T ©

(i) Amount recognised in the Consolidated (ii) NiFEEEREREDZEEE
Statement of Comprehensive Income
2022 2021
== T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Depreciation charge on FEREEEZITEER
right-of-use assets
Buildings BF 1,878 9,721
Interest expense (included in MEMZ GrARERZ)
finance cost) 161 288
Expense relating to short-term ZAAE SRR S GEAEM
leases (included in other KERY)
operating expenses) 1,758 1,128
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(if) Amount recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

Total cash outflows for leases are as below:

o o U 5 R B

15 ERAREE (@)
(i) REE2EBHERETZEHE (@)

EENREREBEEDT

2022 2021

—2-= -

HK$000 HK$000

FHET FET

Within operating cash flows RSP EREN 1,758 1,128
Within financing cash flows AREREREN 2,072 10,143
3,830 11,271

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 year (2021: 2 to 4
years).

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held

(i) ZEBMZHEFHRZEFHZAR

A
FEEHEZEMAE -HO—KRE
ERPIFE (T —F 12545) -

EEFRRDZENEERGH LB
BB R) Z AR AR+ o T & 173 & I
8 I 0 A 77 22 55 1%%%}5&%%2
HEEEZRFMBD@MRN-EE

by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for ER AEERZIER G-
borrowing purposes.
16 INVENTORIES 16 #H

2022 2021
—EC-C T4
HK$000 HK$000
FAET TFAEIT
Finished goods — merchandise &Pl an— I om 37,795 =

The cost of goods recognised as cost of sales amounted to
approximately HK$31,961,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: nil).

é&zi_v__EJr B=1+—HLlEE &
RABEEMANZ B RRAA%431,961,0008

7t (

BT —F o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

17 TRADE RECEIVABLES 17 B 5 EWERIE

2022 2021

HK$000 HK$000

FHETT FHET

Trade receivables B 2 EURIE 17,991 =
Less: provision for impairment allowance BRI E R - =
17,991 -

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is
as follows:

FEEROBRREZHRESZNERKRRIEA
WRIGEERZEHRF UBBREEER
BoBREEECHERAHEER

ERNEZARZEZBUERAEZ Rk D
mE

2022 2021

== T4

HK$000 HK$000

FHET TET

Current BIHR 9,686 =
Less than 3 months past due mE DR =EH 5,821 =
3-6 months past due BHA=ZENEA 1,047 =
Over 6 months past due BHAZ R NER 1,437 =
17,991 -

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

Trade receivables past due but not impaired represents balance
that the Group considered to be fully recoverable based on the
past experience. As at 31 December 2022, none of the trade
receivables (2021: nil) were impaired and the expected credit
losses for the trade receivables balance are not significant. No
provision was made as at 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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17 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

18

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

17 EZRWRIE (@)

BEZRERERNTEBEE :

2022 2021
-z T4
HK$000 HK$000
FHET FET
RMB AR 9,876 -
HK$ AT 8,115 -
17,991 -
All trade receivables' carrying amounts approximate to their fair FREEZREWGIENREEEE A R EME
values. o
OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 18 HthFEUWFRIE  FATRIER RS
DEPOSITS
2022 2021
kSt B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Prepayments TAfTIR 3,264 3,191
Right-of-return assets BEHEE 2,587 =
Interest receivables FEWHI 2 978 =
Other receivables H U IE 129 168
Rental and utility deposits HE RN BRIEEE 41 3,869
Total 4mst 6,999 7,228
Less: non-current portion B IEREER D - (701)
Current portion MENER D 6,999 6,527

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other receivables and

deposits approximate to their fair values.

FEEEMBRRBERIEENREELEZR

AREEE

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

19 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

19 fTEEMIA

2022 2021
—ECHF BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current assets RBEE
Derivative contracts TEEH - 4,579
Current liabilities REBA&E
Derivative contracts TEEL (12) (458)
Total iy (12) 4,121

The Group gains exposures in foreign exchange, commodities and
other products from client orders in its margin dealing business. In
order to hedge these exposures, the Group enters into a number
of derivative contracts with its hedging counterparties in the
normal course of business.

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding derivative

contracts at 31 December 2021 was HK$311,937,000.

The derivative contracts usually have no expiry dates. The size
of the derivative contracts is adjusted according to overall client
activities.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

20 BALANCES DUE FROM AGENTS

20 FEWRIELEER

2022 2021

T T4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Balances due from agents FEUN R IRAS ER 4,651 34,154
Provision for expected credit loss TEHRE E R REE - (191)
Total 4mst 4,651 33,963

The balances represent margin deposits paid to hedging
counterparties and the realised profit or loss from our trading
activities under normal course of business. The majority of the
balances due from agents are repayable on demand except
for certain balance represent margin deposit required for our
outstanding derivative contracts with the hedging counterparties.

ZEBAFENEBEXEGRRERRE PHF

SAMREBEEFER R EMIR

2 Z ARSI E#

RamA s EE - Ko RBUAIEEERAR
EXREE WREAHFIRFETES

’Jﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬂ’]ﬁ EEER

R BV E T A BRER SN o

ZEGHEARE - AEEBKAEEHFN

There is no interest bearing for the balances. The carrying REEAEQAAEES
amounts of the Group’s balances due from agents approximate to
their fair values.
21 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT TRUST 21 IRERIRITHEBRUKRTFSTHRITAR
BANK BALANCES
2022 2021
- BT —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Cash and bank balances RE R IRITAER 13,228 195,487
Fixed deposits with banks IRTTEHIFER 198,563 38,980
Client trust bank balances B R E:LIR1T4EER 4,234 39,225
216,025 273,692

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED .2 "4FE#j;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

21 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT TRUST 21 RERBITERUKRT R EERITER

BANK BALANCES (continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,

(#)

MGERERERMS REARREFE

cash and cash equivalents comprises of the following: MEEUATEIE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTEEER 13,228 195,487

Fixed deposits with bank with original [REIR =188 R EIEEN

maturity within three months RITERER 198,563 38,980
211,791 234,467
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 LEASE LIABILITIES
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)

The Group leases a number of offices mainly in Hong Kong and
Australia. Under the office leases, the periodic rents are fixed over

o o U 5 R B

22 1HE&E
HEZFEE UREAZD)

FEBFTEREFAREAMNEEZEHABRL
E-REBEWAZEHE THESNEEH

the lease term.

The movements in lease liabilities:

HEaEZE

HK$'000

FAET

Balance as at 1 January 2021 N5 _—F—H—HZ4% 10,699
Additions AE 8,891
Interest expense FMEMXZ 288
Lease payments GEN=ENEN (10,143)
Exchange adjustment PE oA EE (96)

Balance as at 31 December 2021 and AR —F+"RA=+—HBK

1 January 2022 “EITF B —HZ&R 9,639
Interest expense AMEREX 161
Lease payments HEER (2,072)
Disposal HE (7,675)
Exchange adjustment PE SR EE (53)

Balance as at 31 December 2022

R_E-__F+"A=+—HZ%EH

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

22 LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 22 HE&E (@)
Future lease payments are due as follows: AEEEMNRBFBERAOT :
Future lease Present
payments Interest value
RIRFAE TR FE HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFAT FAET TAT

As at 31 December 2022 WHW_E__F+_H=+—H

Not later than one year —FRN = - -
Later than one year and not ~—FE&BHERN

later than two years - = -
Later than two years and not MEBEBRERN

later than five years = = -

As at 31 December 2021 R-_ZE_-_—F+”-H=+—H

Not later than one year —FRN 3,796 (397) 3,399
Later than one year and not —E®BEBMER

later than two years 2,504 (261) 2,243
Later than two years and not MEBBRERN

later than five years 4174 (177) 3,997

10,474 (835) 9,639

The present value of future lease payments are analysed as: KRB EMRZIREDTUT :

2022 2021

—E_C T4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Current liabilities REMEE - 3,399

Non-current liabilities JEREEE - 6,240

- 9,639
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on an individual entity
basis when there is a legal right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxation
relates to the same authority. The following amounts, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the
same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

A o M s

23 RIEFIA

2B

ERETERT TR BN HATR 1H B A G B AT
MIBERIRE > MELERIED K E— %S
B o BRI B B ABYIREIR IR E & &
BREHE RERRFEEIEENNEER

(I 8 5+ K2 3E 8H A5 BR) HHIMT ¢

2022
S

HK$'000
FTET

2021
—E—F
HK$'000
FAET

Deferred tax assets to be recovered EIERRIEE E (1218 B & U @)

after twelve months

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled IEERIEEE (12188 B 219)

after twelve months

The major components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

BHFBRRRANIERNELEREEE,
( \%) NEZMLORFRNEHUWT -

Other

Employee temporary
benefits Depreciation differences Total

HAt gt
EEEH e =8 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FET
At 1 January 2021 A —_E"—F—H—H 731 (2,243) 124 (1,388)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss A/ (0BRB) & (721) 2,213 (122) 1,370
Exchange adjustments B R (10) 30 ¥) 18

At 31 December 2021 and 2022 TR —FRIBICHF

+-A=+—H = = = =
CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED % 4E#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

23 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$166,916,000 (2021:
HK$166,816,000) which were available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the estimated tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. All amount of estimated tax losses have no expiry

date.

24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23 RIERIE (B)

RIEZZF+ZA=+—H ' X&EEHA
HEN A LIRS R AOEF M st R ENBIRIE
E5184973166,916,0008 T (B - —4F :
166,816,000 7T0) ° FRFL K 3 ia A B9 A~
BT8R M > AN & (B R AR TE RS 1R
RIEERIBEE -FIAMMIBEIESEE
HEEmEE-

24 BHREMEDRIE

2022 2021

—E_C TR

notes HK$'000 HK$'000

Myt THET FAET

Trade payables B 5 ERTIA (b) 41,486 =
Refund liabilities BRER 2,676 =
Contract liabilities BHEE 2,412 =
Other accruals HithEst &R 2,415 4,482
Accrued audit fees Est Bt E R 1,972 2,422
Employee entitlements EERE R = 2,021
Other payables HAE (I =IE 525 345
Commission payable FE(T R - 226
@ 51,486 9,496

notes:

(@  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables

approximate to their fair values.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
notes: (continued)
(b)  The credit terms of merchandise payables granted by the suppliers

are usually current to 90 days. At 31 December 2022, the aging
analysis of the merchandise payables based on invoice date is as

o o U 5 R B

24 BEKREMEIRIE @)

Kzt o (48)

by HEERFzERENREZEERES
AEEEOH R _E-_—_F+_-_B=+—
B ENSZAHAEREMRIEZ RED

follows: T .
2022 2021
—E-C —B—F
HK$"000 HK$'000
FET THET
Within 30 days 30HA - -
30 to 90 days 30£90H 41,486 =
90 to 180 days 90% 180H - -
Over 180 days 180B X £ - -
41,486 =

25 CLIENTS’ BALANCES 25 R

The balances represent margin deposits received from clients S aR e A E e MR o W EY & B 1Y
and the realised profit or loss from their trading activities under RS EIRBEN R EETHHNE &I

normal course of business. The majority of the clients’ balances
are repayable on demand except for certain balance represent
margin deposit required for the outstanding derivative contracts.
There is no interest bearing for the balances. The carrying
amounts approximate to their fair values.

A E R KB OB R EFRARERE
BOEARTENMEGHMEENREZF
MHETHEERIN - ZFEH/ARE IR
EEREAAAEBEERS-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

26 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 26 RRAERfEE
(a) Share capital (a) &z
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
“E--f+-B=+—-H “ET—F+"RB=1—H
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
BB E] THET Rir#E TET
Authorised: FEE
Ordinary shares of ERMEE0.01ETZ
HK$0.01 each EiEk 4,000,000,000 40,000  4,000,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE .
At beginning and end of INTELEDINEN
the reporting period 2,033,290,000 20,333 2,033,290,000 20,333
(b) Reserves (b) &

Reserves includes capital reserves which represents the
difference between the book value of the net assets of CLSA
Premium New Zealand Limited, CLSA Premium Pty Limited
and CLSA Premium International (HK) Limited over the par
value of the shares issued by LXL Capital Il Limited, LXL
Capital lll Limited and LXL Capital IV Limited in exchange for
these subsidiaries as part of the reorganisation completed in
2012.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EEOIEEARE > 158CLSA Premium
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

27 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 27 MEERHSHELX ZEEHER
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, AEREBREBEETHEL 2 AEES (B
ReEKRIFHREEEH O

including both cash and non-cash changes are as follows:

Lease
liabilities
HEa’
HK$'000
TF#T
As at 1 January 2022 R-E-__%—HF—H 9,639
Changes from financing cash flows: RERMBEREREZEE !
Lease payments HEMR (1,911)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEaBZBENRE (161)
Total changes from financing cash flows REMEREREZ EEELE (2,072)
Exchange adjustments ERBE (53)
Other changes: Hith& s :
Disposal of lease liabilities HERESE (7.675)
Finance costs LB A 161
Total other changes Hth&Eh4a %8 (7.514)
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-_"HF+"RB=+—H -~
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

27 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

27 RMEZEBEEZAERK @

Lease
liabilities
HEaE
HK$'000
FEx

As at 1 January 2021 R —%—HF—H 10,699
Changes from financing cash flows: REMERESREZ 8 !
Lease payments EER (9,855)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HESRZEBNFE (288)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERMESREREZ EHNEEE (10,143)
Exchange adjustments ERARE (96)
Other changes: H{thE s :
Additions to lease liabilities NEHEESRE 8,891
Finance costs BMERAE 288
Total other changes Hthitsh4a%s 9,179
As at 31 December 2021 WZEZ—f+Z“H=+—H 9,639
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 March 2018, the Company granted 40,000,000 share
options to 82 individuals (the “2018 Grantees”) for their
subscription of new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the
Company’s share capital.

These share options are exercisable at HK$0.495 per share, with
varying vesting period and validity from the date of grant. 37
out of 82 of the 2018 Grantees were granted share options
which are exercisable for a period of three years commencing on
the date of grant to 21 March 2021. 11 out of 82 of the 2018
Grantees were granted share options which are exercisable for a
period of three years commencing on the date falling on the first
anniversary of the date of grant to 21 March 2022, with a vesting
period of one year from the date of grant. The remaining 34 of
the 2018 Grantees were granted options which are exercisable
for a period of two years commencing on the date falling on the
second anniversary of the date of grant to 21 March 2022, with
a vesting period of two years from the date of grant. Among the
40,000,000 share options granted, 12,200,000 share options
were granted to the Company’s directors and chief executives.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase
or settle the options in cash.

o o U 5 R B

28 fERRiESTE

RZZE—N\FE=BZ+IZH AAFM82
ANt (&T2018%# A ) 2 H40,000,000
HERE HEERERALIREIPRER
HEC.01 BT B @A o

ZEBRETEERKRKH0.4958 T E
BEUTE BREBHESNEBHA R
BMHEAB R - 8242018 R AH 37
LERTFIRBLEHBESEZZ - —F
=BT+ —HALE=FZHERNTEZE
B4 0 528242018 ERW AR LER T
AIRETYHE—BFEEEsEZS
F=BT+—HALE=FZHBEARTEZ
ERE BEPAHBEHBERES —Fo
BR N Z34%2018 R AER FOUNELY
HifMEFEFEHRESAEZEZZE 4=
T+t HALMEZHBRTEZER
EoEEAAHKEHBESME B
H 8940,000,00017 BB EH > AR B EE
REEITHAE®ERE12,200,00013 B
T o

FERTE IR EEETEURESEOL
/vD%ﬁ%Hn¢&o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

28 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28 BERHESE ()
Movements in the number of outstanding share options during BHE_ T HF+-_B=+—HILEEH
the year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows: RTENEREHEESNT !
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Forfeited Exercised as at
1 January during during during 31 December  Exercise
Grantee Date of grant 2022 theyear  theyear the year 2022 price Exercise period
RIBZZH RZ8__&
—B-A RER RERA RER  +ZB=+-H
EEA RiHBEH HRITRE i #ig it W RITE IEE (THEER
HK$
BT
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 1,600,000 - (1,600,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2019 to
companies 21 March 2022
£BRFES “B-N\E “2—hE=BZ+ZHZE
=BZ+ZH “E"F=F-+-H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 1,100,000 - (1,100,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2020 to
companies 21 March 2022
£BRAES “2)\F “B_ZF=F_+_HE
=HA=+=H 2 "F=A"+-H
Consultants 22 March 2018 550,000 - (550,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2019 to
21 March 2022
e 2-N\F “E-hNE=A"+ZHE
=BAZ+ZH “E"F=F-+-H
3,250,000 - (3,250,000) - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

28 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements in the number of outstanding share options during

the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:

28 fERRESHE (B

HE-Z-—&+-F=+—HIEEEH
ROTENBREHE LSBT :

Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Forfeited Exercised as at
1 January during during during 31 December  Exercise
Grantee Date of grant 2021 theyear  theyear the year 2021 price Exercise period
RZIEZ—%F AZEZ-&
—B-A RER RERA RER  +ZB=+-H
EEA RiHBEH HRITEE i #ig (3 W RITE IR (THEER
HKS
BT
Stephen Gregory McCoy 22 March 2018 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to
21 March 2021
—F0\E ¥ \F=RAZ+CHE
=BA-+ZH “E_—#=F"1+-H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 8,500,000 - (8,500,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to
companies 21 March 2021
E NS —2N\E “F-\F=AZ+CRHE
=A-+ZH “E_—%#=F°+-H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 1,600,000 - - - 1,600,000 0.495 22 March 2019 to
companies 21 March 2022
SEAREER ZE-N\E “E-hE=B-{+-HZ
=ZB=+Z-AH “Z-"F#=B-+-H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 1,150,000 - (50,000) - 1,100,000 0.495 22 March 2020 to
companies 21 March 2022
£BRFAES “2)\F “EZF-F°{+HE
=B-+ZH B _#=R”1+—H
Consultants 22 March 2018 550,000 - - - 550,000 0.495 22 March 2019 to
21 March 2022
e 2-N\F “E-hNE=A"+ZHE
=BZ+ZH R TF=RT+—H
12,800,000 - (9,550,000) = 3,250,000

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED %
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28 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Details of the
share options granted on 22 March 2018 were as follows:

Weighted average share option

price at the grant date: HK$0.1735
Risk free interest rate: 1.668%
Expected volatility: 56.39%
Expected dividend yield: 0%

Expected exercise multiple: Directors: 2.8x exercise price

Others: 2.2x exercise price

The measurement date of the share options was 22 March
2018, being the date of grant of the share options. The
expected dividend yield is determined with reference to historical
dividend payment history of comparable listed companies up
to the measurement date. The expected volatility of share price
is determined with reference to annualised historical weekly
volatility of comparable listed companies’ share prices as of the
valuation date, as extracted from Bloomberg.

No share option expenses were recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the current period
(2021: nil).

As at 31 December 2022, there is no exercisable share options
granted. Under the current share options scheme which will be
expired on 4 June 2023, there are 40,000,000 share options
could be granted on or before 2 July 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

28 fERRESHE (B

“EAEEEENERMLUG S ERE
WARE -StEBERERABGHANEHK
RBRDBDERESNREMGS -BREE
EREFEETBRRIOEHBTEMEC R
“E-N\F=ZRA T ARENEREN
SHBEWMTE

PO H B ERRY AR 19

PRGBS 0.17358 7T
mEEN = 1.668%
TERRR IS 56.39%
TERAR B = . 0%
TEERTT (58 - E5E | THEBE2.8(F

Hth : 17EE2.215

BRENSAEHRS-ZT-—NE=A
“HTE RREERENBR - RHK
BRNL2EAELER LT ATEEFER
HARYIB IR B RRECE M E - IREBAY TR
HREH2ERHEEZ BN B LD
ABNRESEEFEARNFELEETS
18 R M T 7 7E

AEBRIN G 4 2 B I R0 D AT
BB (B —F D).

RZEZZHF+ZHAE=+—H #HEE
HAFTERERE - BREAR S =
FREONHEMNREREBRES S
40,000,000 EEREINR T =4+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of Financial Position of the Company

FABZMBRAR

29 FABZMBRARKFEES

As at 31 December

w+=-A=+—H
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSET BE
Non-current assets EREMEBE
Investments in subsidiaries (Note 31) KRB AR Z & (H531) 238,665 151,853
Right-of-use assets ERREE - 8,324
Deposit & - 701
Total non-current assets ERBEEEE 238,665 160,878
Current assets REBEE
Cash and bank balances RE MIR1T4EER 160,607 77,471
Amounts due from subsidiaries U B ARz I8 15,296 43,217
Prepayments TR 9,070 1,655
Total current assets mMENEEMEE 184,973 122,343
Total assets BEHE 423,638 283,221
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES kAR
Share capital [N 20,333 20,333
Reserves (note (a)) & (Hat@) 180,494 181,052
(Accumulated losses)/retained (RETE518) 1REB&EF
earnings (note (a)) (Hizta) (97,312) 66,743
Total equity g k] 103,515 268,128
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29 KABZHBERARKFEES &)
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Statement of Financial Position of the Company ERBZMBRRER ()
(continued)

As at 31 December

®w+=-HA=+—H
2022 2021
—E-= S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current liabilities Bt A=Y
Lease liabilities HEAaE - 2,134
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEIH B AT RIE 317,953 2,877
Other payables and accrued liabilities HithENTIEREAEE 2,170 3,842
Total current liabilities mENBEEEE 320,123 8,853
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Lease liabilities HEESRE - 6,240
Total liabilities BR4EEE 320,123 15,093
Total equity and liabilities METRAER 423,638 283,221
The statement of financial position of the Company was KRB ZHMBRRARKEESTGN 2=
approved by the Board of Directors on 13 March 2023 and was FZB+=ZH#LAEATAHUTEETRAAE
signed on its behalf. Eo
Yuen Feng Chung Cheuk Fan Marco
RIg EEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Statement of Financial Position of the Company

(continued)

note (a) - Reserves movement of the Company

EREZMBRAR (B

MizE(a)—F 2B ZHEED

29 FABZMBRARKRBEES (@)

(Accumulated

losses)/

retained

Reserves earnings

(RetiisE)

fEE REERR

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

As at 1 January 2021 WZE-—§—H8—H 182,511 107,383
Loss for the year FERE = (42,099)
Share option scheme RS ST (1,459) 1,459
As at 31 December 2021 RZE2Z—F+ZH=+—H 181,052 66,743
As at 1 January 2022 RZIE__—H—H 181,052 66,743
Loss for the year FEESE - (164,613)
Share option scheme FERG T2 (558) 558
As at 31 December 2022 RZE_“_#+”"H=+—H 180,494 (97,312)
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30 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

30 EEREREEENME

Emoluments paid/payable to the Company’s directors by

the Group during the years ended 31 December 2022 and

2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(a) EEE
KEFBHRE_E KR _ZT"—
+_BA=+—HLEEFEEREARATES
ST/ AR o

BE_ZE-__F#+-H=+—H1L
FE

Employer's
Salary contribution Discretionary
Director and  to pension bhonuses
fee commission scheme (note (a)) Total
ek  EIRHAE Rt
Name of director BEitL ik ik HEEE (M) Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ER TiEn TiEn TR T#ER
Executive Directors: RITES:
Mr. Yuan Feng RERE 240 790 - - 1,030
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco BEE Tt 240 - - - 240
Non-executive Directors:  JFH{TEE
Mr. Li Jiong e 120 - - - 120
Mr. Xu Jiangiang STEREE 120 - - - 120
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
Directors:
Mr. Wu Jianfeng BRl#EE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield ~ Christopher Wesley Satterfield5 4 240 - - - 240
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia HEEL T 240 - - - 240
1,440 790 - - 2,230
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

30 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S 30 EEREREEENME @)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (@) EEMNE @)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHE_Z-_—F+ZA=+—HIL
FE
Employer's
Salary contribution ~ Discretionary
Director and to pension bonuses
fee commission scheme (note (a)) Total
ek BIRHkE HIETEAa
Name of director By ik e IS (GEG) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THR TAR TH THR THR

Executive Directors: RITES:
M. Yuan Feng mEBEE 240 790 - - 1,030
Mr. W Fei s

(Resigned on 5 July 2021) (RZZZ—FtBRHED) 123 - - - 123
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco ELfkt

(Appointed on 5 July 2021) RZZ_—FtBRHEZMA) 117 - - - 17
Non-executive Directors: ~ JEH{TES !
M. Li Jiong ZEEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy Stephen Gregory McCoy%c4E

(Resigned on 9 March 2021) (RZBZ—E=RNAHMA 3 - - - 3
M. Xu Jiangiang SRR 120 - - - 120

Independent non-executive BiFHITES

Directors:
Mr. Wu Jianfeng HR#EE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield  Christopher Wesley Satterfield#z 4 240 - - - 240
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia EEE 240 - - - 240

1,463 790 = = 2,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

30 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
no directors of the Group waived any emoluments and
no emolument was paid to any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

note (a). Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled
to discretionary bonus payments which are determined
with reference to the Group'’s operating results, individual
performance of the directors and relevant market statistics
during the year.

30 EEREREERENME (@)

(a) EFMzE @)
BE_S__ER-_S-_—F+-8
=t+—BUEFE BEAEREEEW
Bt BEffEREANES N
Bl <& F 75 0 A 2 £ B 55 0 A BF B9 22 B
RIERBEREE

Mita): FRBDETFHETEFTZANIET
AR ARRIEN 2 EERNEE
EREEXE EENEARER
MR IB St BRI MEE

2022 2021
—E_C BT —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Emoluments paid or receivable in FEANREREES (R AT
respect of a person’s services as HEMBAB) NERFEmME S
a director, whether of the company FEU BB &
or its subsidiary undertaking 1,440 1,463
Emoluments paid or receivable in MEEREEEQNDNENE AR
respect of director’s other services in ~ EEBIEMARES M EIHEU
connection with the management BB &
of the affairs of the company or
its subsidiary undertaking 790 790
2,230 2,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid employees during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 included one director, details of
whose remuneration are set out in Note 30(a) above. Details
of the remuneration of the remaining non-directors, highest
paid employees during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 are as follows:

o o U 5 R B

30 EEREREEENMS @)

(b)

TamEEHAL

BE_ZT__FR-FT-_—F+°H
=+t HLEEFE IREsHEES
BE—REF HNEsFBE N LM
30(a)  HER FEE RS FHEENE
ECR__ERIE—F+°HA
=+—BLEEENMEFBEEI W
Tk

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—f

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salary and commission HERAE 3,572 3,752
Discretionary bonuses FISTEAL - 193
3,572 3,945

No emoluments have been paid to these individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

The emoluments of the highest-paid individuals of the
Group other than the directors fall within the following
bands:

BE_Z__FRT—F+ZRH
=t+—HALEFE - BEAZEALX
B <2 15 23 0 A 75 52 B 30 0 A By 9 22
B ou 17 B BB 18 o

rEBRSHAL BRESIN M
BT -

2022 2021
—E-C T4
Emolument bands i <& F 88
— HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 — 07875%1,000,00078 70 3
— HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 — 1,000,001 752 1,500,00078 7T 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

31 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had direct and indirect

interests in the following subsidiaries:

31 KMBARZIRE

B "F+ZA=+—RHB > AR2FRN

TINB AR R BB

Particulars
of issued Equity
Place of incorporation Principal activities share capitall interest
Company name and kind of legal entity and place of operation paid-in capital held
BRTRE/
GRS SRR AR R RER TEEBRCEM BERTHE FHENRE
CLSA Premium Bullion Limited Hong Kong, Provision of leveraged bullion and HK$1,000,000 100%
limited liability company healthcare products trading services, (direct)
Hong Kong
&8 rMtERECERRREER 1,000,0003 7T 100%
BREFAH RaRH BE (B8
CLSA Premium New Zealand Limited ~ New Zealand, Provision of leveraged foreign exchange NZD24,336,301 100%
limited liability company and other trading services, New (direct)
Zealand
R feftERIMNER 24,336, 3013 HTT 100%
BREFAH MR 5 R i F (B8
CLSA Premium Pty Limited Australia, Provision of leveraged foreign exchange AUD15,664,108 100%
limited liability company and other trading services, Australia (direct)
B ReftERIMNER 15,664,108127z 100%
BREFAH HEtRX 5% 2 (B8
CLSA Premium International (HK) Hong Kong, Provision of management services, HK$100,000,000 100%
Limited limited liability company leveraged foreign exchange and other (direct)
trading services, Hong Kong
&8 RRHERRE REINER 100,000,003 7 100%
BREFAH HMR SR &5 (B8
Yorkastle Capital Limited Hong Kong, Investment holding, Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100%
limited liability company (direct)
RHERBRAT &8 REgk &8 1,000,0003 7T 100%
BREFAH (=t
LXL Capital | Limitedl 7o %% British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$800 100%
limited liability company Islands (direct)
HERUHEE> RERR ZBELHES 800%7T 100%
BREFAH (B
LXL Capital Il Limited "% British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$300 100%
limited liability company Islands (indirect)
HERUHEE> RERR ZBELHESE 300%7 100%
BREFAE (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

31 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 31 REATZIRE &)

Particulars
of issued Equity
Place of incorporation Principal activities share capital/ interest
Company name and kind of legal entity and place of operation paid-in capital held
BEfTKEs/
GRS SRMItE R AR ERER FTEEBREEME BRRTHE FENRE
LXL Capital Il Limited 7% British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$600 100%
limited liability company Islands (indirect)
REEXHE REZER RBRUHE 600X 7T 100%
BREEAT (E2)
LXL Capital IV Limited "= British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$100 100%
limited liability company Islands (indirect)
REEXHE REZER RBRUHE 100%7T 100%
BRERAT Gk
LXL Capital VIl Limited 7t/ British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$100 100%
limited liability company Islands (indirect)
REEXHE REZER RBREUHE 100%70 100%
BREEAT (E2)
LXL Capital V Limited 7% British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$100 100%
limited liability company Islands (indirect)
REEXHE REER RBRUHE 100%70 100%
BRERAT (E2)
LXL Capital IX Limited "= British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$100 100%
limited liability company Islands (indirect)
REEXHE REER RBREUHE 100%70 100%
BRERAT Gk
Zhuhai Yi Pu Li Business Consulting  People’s Republic of China, Inactive, People’s Republic of China RMB50, 166,020 100%
Services Limited* " limited liability company (indirect)
b piEE S Ea E \RHEME EEER hEARLNE AEH50,166,0207T 100%
BRRAF BREEAT Gk

note.  No audited financial statements have been prepared as these
companies are incorporated in a jurisdiction which does not
have any statutory audit requirements. LXL Capital VII Limited,
LXL Capital IX Limited and Zhuhai Yi Pu Li Business Consulting

HiaE . HRZEAR MM EDEAEE I EE
AR BIZARTE > 0 FAR RSB
#R3% o LXL Capital VIl Limited ~LXL Capital
IX Limited & 2k 78 5 & F i 2 550 R B IR

Services Limited* are liquidated during the financial year 2022. NER B _FHHEEER-

* For identification only

1EH# 5
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32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if
they are subject to common control.

For the outstanding balance due from or to related parties, net
amount is presented when the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends to settle on a
net basis.

(@ The Group had the following material transactions with its
related entities during the year:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

32 RAMKTS R 5 RASER

W—HAENERNERES —HNE
MBEREERREN S —FHEEARE
BB ARB AR HARIEHE
TR BB B B o

PR EARRB S N REEERMS
EXREEARGERAIBHERIBEER
TREFREEEER 2SR FER -

() XEEBRERNEHRHSEET
BARS .

2022 2021
- TR
notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 TET FHET
Transactions with related BRI A ETHRS
parties
Amount paid for the provision of BT A B TR e 4
software maintenance, upgrade E TR R SRR HRIE
and support services from:
— other related party —EHthEA S (i) 126 2,369
Amount received for the provision of B FA B WER (L E IR
management services from: HIFRIE -
— other related parties — EL A Bt (i) = 2,700
Amount paid for the provision of BT A B R EERT
management services from: BRI
— other related party —H AR5 (ii) 846 702
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(continued)

(@ The Group had the following material transactions with its
related entities during the year: (continued)

notes:

(i) Amounts are paid for the provision of software maintenance,
upgrade and support services based on the terms on
agreement signed between parties.

(i) Amounts are received and paid for the sharing of the offices
based on the agreement signed between parties.

(i)  On 9 March 2022, CLSA Premium Pty Limited received a
termination notice from CLSA Australia Holdings Pty Ltd to
terminate the Novation Deed dated 1 May 2021 and the
Service Level Agreement dated 14 February 2020.

(ivy  On 6 June 2022, the Company and CLSA Limited had
entered into another services agreement to replace the new
information technology services agreement dated 9 March
2020. Pursuant to Rule 14A.76, the transaction in relation to
the services agreement dated 6 June 2022 is fully exempted
from the requirements to obtains shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements.

(b) Key management includes directors (executive & non-
executive) and the remuneration of the key management
personnel of the Group are disclosed in Note 30.

o o U 5 R B

32 Eg Hﬁﬁ 7‘:’_ 3‘5 n\l:l ﬁ? C“ )

(a)

AEBRFANRAHEFAHRERET T
ERRX5H: (8B

MiaE -

() BUIRHIRFERE TR R SR BRI S
RIS IRBE R ST B PR RG] 2 15
BIRRMAEE °

(i) TR A EMUWEUR S I BIRRIETS
*EE DTé‘)]EFﬁAA DTZTﬁﬁD&ﬁﬁﬁéE °

iy MZEBE-__HF=HHHCLSA Premium
Pty Limited}Z#CLSA Australia HoIdings Pty
Ltdf94L BN LURIEREA —Z —
FHRE—HzEBRZEKRAHATSZ
TE T B+IUE Z R KERZR

vy RIZBZZHERANRB KABEPE
BERBHFERABIILS — MR
BEURNRKBHAZZE-_SH=FA1H
Z¥ﬁ§uﬂﬂ?§iﬁ§?%u& RIZZE14A.76

B BARBEAZE __F/B/NHZ
RBHR X ZEBHARETIE
RR#E - FEBRRMERBERT

SERFEEERE (BEHITRIEHR
TEER) REEEE SR H MW
301 B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

33

34

COMMITMENTS
Operating lease commitments
As lessee

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments in respect of an
office under non-cancellable lease within one year as follows:

33

i
REEEERIE
1ERBEEA

SR AEE AR —F R BEE
WEEETERAMRAENARREBEEEN
ORI

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FR 287 120

Capital commitments

There is no capital commitment for the Group as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities from litigations with Banclogix
System Co., Limited

On 6 May 2020, the Company received a writ of summons
together with an endorsement of claim dated 6 May 2020 issued
in the High Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region by Banclogix System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”, the
Group’s then IT service provider) against the Company and
claims (i) that the termination of the IT service agreement by
the Company was wrongful; (i) alleged termination payment
of HK$2.5 million, software maintenance fee of approximately
HK$450,000 and IT infrastructure fee of HK$1.5 million; and (ii)
alleged loss and damages to be assessed.

The above proceedings is to be heard together with the High
Court legal action started in 2019 by the Company (joined
subsequently by its three licensed subsidiaries as plaintiffs) against
Banclogix claiming for, among others, repudiatory breach of the
IT service agreement by Banclogix; return of the plaintiffs’ data,
costs and damages. The Company and Banclogix had a mediation
on 23 June 2021. The parties did not reach an agreement.
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BEKIE

RIEBEZ_FR_E-_—F+ZB=+—
H> mREBELESRKE-

AR ARG R
BREESRKRERARFRZHARR

ATECEFRANH ARBBEE—H
BREEERSEARAE (TEE) » A&EH
ERZEMNERBHER) 5B
THesEiREHHBEA - -"2FH
BRABZBASKRERRES S #HHA
NEI () RA B IEE AR R 5=
BARE ;(i)iEf4& {9 Fx2,500,0008 T~
B4 B 49450,000 8 T REMRIEE
L& A 1,500,000 7 ; K(ii)iEREF
TG EIREEEERHRE

Lt HRRAERE (BRA=ZRFEN
BABMARRSEAN) HEREER (HF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(continued)

Contingent liabilities from litigations with Banclogix
System Co., Limited (continued)

These two legal proceedings with Banclogix are still ongoing
at the end of the reporting period and as at the date of this
report, and while the outcome and the potential financial impact
are subject to uncertainties and are not practically able to be
estimated, the Company’s directors consider that no provision is
required at this stage of the proceedings as the legal adviser of
the Company is cautiously optimistic about the outcome of the
two cases with Banclogix. The Company has been contesting the
claims made by Banclogix.

Provision for penalty to be imposed by Financial
Markets Authority

On 23 June 2020, CLSAP NZ, received a statement of claim filed
by the FMA. The FMA had filed on the High Court to impose
a financial penalty against CLSAP NZ for alleged breaches of
the AML/CFT Act for certain transactions occurred between
April 2015 and November 2018. The FMA alleged four causes
of action against CLSAP NZ under the AML/CFT Act: failure to
conduct standard and enhanced client due diligence; failure to
terminate business relationships; failure to submit suspicious
transaction reports or suspicious activity reports; and failure to
keep records. CLSAP NZ had filed a Notice of Admission and an
Agreed Statement of Facts with the FMA.

The penalty hearing had taken place on 5 July 2021. On 10
September 2021, the judgment is entered against CLSAP NZ for
the four civil liability acts and a pecuniary penalty of NZD770,000
has been imposed.

The Group had accrued NZD1 million (approximately HK$5.6
million) as provision for the penalty during the year ended 31
December 2020. The claim was settled after the penalty was paid
in October 2021.

o o U 5 R B

34 SHBKRHAGRE @)

BREESRKRAERARNRFRBRZHARR
%)

RBERHRRNAKRES AL BREZM
HERFRDEETT  BRRBEYH
TENBANZHBEZBERMGS -T2
REERD BRERBEREEB Y KE
WMIBRMGZERFEZERLEEE > BUNIE
FEER B RN FLE B - AR —EHH
BEZ REEIRE IR -

MER TS ERER TSR EL B E

RN _EF,NH_+=H>CLSAP NZ
WEEHMPIEZEER RRMME -7
MEEERARZRS E AR HCLSAP NZ
BRI - E—AFOBAE_ZT—N\F+—
BZETRZERAMLUCFTAMEINER
SRS EEBBIBBAML/CFTAH
CLSAP NZIRH UISHEFFRIEH © REEETT
BERBERZZERRBE ; REKRIEE
BRG  RERX IR ZHREF I RE
BIRE ; RAKRAEIRIFCEE ° CLSAP NZE [
MBS EERRIEMBEFE(Notice
of Admission)fz:% & = B R4t £(Agreed
Statement of Facts)e

AMEAER S -_—FtBaLRE
T -MZZEZ—FNHA+H>CLSAP NZ
MOBEBREEETABEL IR W E
770,000 75 B 7o BY S0 78

AEERBEE _E_EF+_H=+—
BIEFEEE%1,000,000% AT (4
5,600,000 ) (FASIREHB - RN_E
T FE+BAENEIRE RREEMR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A 5 AR R B A

35

36.

37

EFFECT ASSESSMENT OF THE COVID-19
OUTBREAK

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted economic
activities worldwide. Many countries have imposed restrictions
on non-essential services and business operations, and have
also implemented travel restrictions, border closures and other
quarantine measures that have significantly curbed the normal
movement of goods, services and people. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2022, the impact of COVID-19 have been
reflected in this set of consolidated financial statements.

The Group are taking steps to proactively manage the businesses
and take the necessary actions to ensure that the long-term
business prospects of the Group remain stable.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified, to conform
with the current year’s presentation and disclosures. The
Company's directors consider that such presentation would better
reflect the financial performance and position of the Group.

During the current year, net foreign exchange gain of
approximately HK$3,465,000 was classified as “other income”.
The comparative amounts of approximately HK$3,585,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was reclassified from “other
operating expenses” to “other income” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income to conform with the current
year presentation.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board of Directors on 13 March 2023.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

35

36.
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MR R SR BRSNS ET

BB AT NRF R B RIS MR
REERTE - ZHNFLERBREE
7t B 0 PR 51 > [F) B 78 B A L A 4R PR 1
B e HL fth AR % 18 T o 5 f5 I Bk 2B PR
EYM - REBERABZEBRB -BE_ZF
I+ A=+—HBUEMEEE WE
BRAEELHZECRBRNAGEEMHFRE
fo

FEEFRERMEHMBEBEEEHLE
TR BERAZEAERBZ REXEE

AR e

ot 3% 12

ETLHERESFEKENDE LEKXEE
22T ANRBRBRE B -ARATES
B REINAARELERMREER
B RIFRARI

MAFE BERIWmFEELN3,465,0008
TEoEATHEMBAl B#E_Z - —
E+ A=+ —HLEFEEZERSEY
3,585,000 T EHF e AR H
MR ERZ BB E THMU AL » ML
HAARFEZ 2 HARF Ko

HEM B RE

FMBBRREEFEN T ==
T A ERERETE-
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